La Crosse Area Planning Committee

Metropolitan Planning Organization
Serving the La Crosse/La Crescent Urbanized Area

Peter Fletcher, Director  Jackie Eastwood, Transportation Planner
Pl Committez La Crosse County Administrative Center
212 6% Street North & Room 1200 & La Crosse, WI 54601-1200
PH: 608.785.6141 Website: www.lacrossecounty.org/mpo

—keeping you moving in the Coulee Region

LA CROSSE COUNTY NOTICE OF MEETING

COMMITTEE OR BOARD: LA CROSSE AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE
DATE OF MEETING: WEDNESDAY, March 17, 2021
MEETING PLACE: DUE TO COVID-19 THE MEETING WILL BE HELD REMOTELY

VIA TEAMS AND/OR TELECONFERENCE-MEETING ACCESS/
MONITORING INSTRUCTIONS DETAILED BELOW
TIME OF MEETING: 4:30 P.M.

PURPOSE OF MEETING: Monthly Meeting

Call to Order and Roll Call
Public comment (5 minutes time limit per comment)
Approval of minutes of the January 20, 2021 LAPC meeting

Welcome Town of Holland as a member of the LAPC
Recognition of Mayor Kabat for years of service to the LAPC
Approve Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan Targets for La Crosse Municipal Transit Utility

and Onalaska Shared Ride (Resolution 2-2021)
Approve amending the 2021-2024 Transportation Improvement Program (Resolution 3-2021)
Fire/EMS Service Sharing Study — Rob Henken, President Wisconsin Policy Forum
Approve 2022 LAPC member dues
10. Directors Report
11. Other Business
12. Future Agenda Items
-Nomination of new chair and vice chair
-Intermunicipal Agreements/Bylaws
-Transit Development Plan- consultant presentation
-2021-2024 TIP Amendment
13. Next Regular Meeting of LAPC: Wednesday, May 19, 2021
14. Adjourn

olg MMwiNE

© 0N

Public Access: Any person may access/monitor the meeting utilizing the following options.

MEETING ACCESS/MONITORING INSTRUCTIONS:
Option 1: Use the link below to join the TEAMS meeting on your desktop/laptop/phone to stream audio,
video or both. If you do not have TEAMS on your desktop/laptop/phone, after you activate the link “Click
here to join the meeting” you will have to follow several prompts to join the meeting.

Click here to join the meeting
Option 2: Join by phone (audio only): 1-262-683-8845, and enter 745316572# at the prompt

+1 262-683-8845,745316572# United States, Kenosha
Phone Conference ID: 745 316 572#

If you need assistance accessing or participating in this meeting, please contact LAPC staff as soon as possible by
phone at 608-785-6141, by email at jeastwood@lacrossecounty.org, or in person at 212 6" St N, Room 1200, La
Crosse, WI 54601.

Yog tias koj xav tau kev pabcuam kom nkag mus lossis koom nrog hauv lub rooj sib tham no, thov hu rau LAPC cov
neeg ua haujlwm kom sai li sai tau hauv xovtooj ntawm 608-785-6141, lossis email rau
jeastwood@Iacrossecounty.org, lossis tus kheej rau 212 6™ St N, Room 1200, La Crosse, WI 54601.

Si necesita ayuda para acceder o participar en esta reunién, comuniquese con el personal de LAPC lo antes posible
por teléfono al 608-785-6141, por correo electronico a jeastwood@lacrossecounty.org, o en persona en 212 6 St N,
Room 1200, La Crosse, WI 54601.



https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_OTUyMzNmNzQtMjgzMS00MzhjLWIzNDItOGMzMDk0MmI5ODhl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2290642ce5-3c11-4728-aa2d-fc5917738a93%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%227ee6340e-e19c-424b-b54f-ca9e9dfac90c%22%7d
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_OTUyMzNmNzQtMjgzMS00MzhjLWIzNDItOGMzMDk0MmI5ODhl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2290642ce5-3c11-4728-aa2d-fc5917738a93%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%227ee6340e-e19c-424b-b54f-ca9e9dfac90c%22%7d
tel:+12626838845,,745316572#%20
tel:+12626838845,,745316572#%20
mailto:jeastwood@lacrossecounty.org
mailto:jeastwood@lacrossecounty.org
mailto:jeastwood@lacrossecounty.org

La Crosse Area Planning Committee

Metropolitan Planning Organization
Serving the La Crosse/La Crescent Urbanized Area

Peter Fletcher, Director  Jackie Eastwood, Transportation Planner
Pl Committez La Crosse County Administrative Center
212 6% Street North & Room 1200 & La Crosse, WI 54601-1200
PH: 608.785.6141 Website: www.lacrossecounty.org/mpo

—keeping you moving in the Coulee Region

NOTICES FAXED/MAILED TO:

NEWS MEDIA DEPARTMENTS COMMITTEE MEMBERS
La Crosse Tribune County Administrator Mike Poellinger, Chair
Other Media Corporation Counsel Patrick Barlow

County Clerk Monica Kruse
OTHERS Facilities Tim Kabat/Martin Gaul
LAPC Technical Committees Dennis Manthei/Scott Schumacher
Public Participation Process List Linda Seidel

Tim Candahl

Stan Hauser/Jerry Monti
Terry Schaller

Kim Smith
Steve Michaels

MEMBERS: If unable to attend, please contact Peter Fletcher, MPO Director at 608-785-5977.

*PUBLIC COMMENT: The Committee may receive information from the public, but the Committee reserves the right to
limit the time that the public may comment and the degree to which members of the public may participate in the
meeting.

PERSONS WITH DISABILITY: If you need accommodation to access/monitor this meeting, please contact the County
Clerk’s Office at (608)785-9581 as soon as possible.

The LAPC reserves the right to reconsider issues taken up at previous meetings. Documents are emailed and/or mailed to LAPC Policy
Board members; please contact the LAPC office to obtain copies. If you have a disability and need assistance participating in this meeting,
please contact Jackie Eastwood at 608.785.6141 or at jeastwood@lacrossecounty.org as soon as possible in advance of the meeting.

DATE NOTICE FAXED/MAILED/POSTED: March 9, 2021

This meeting may be recorded and any such recording is subject to
Disclosure under the Wisconsin Open Records Law


mailto:jeastwood@lacrossecounty.org

La Crosse Area Planning Committee

Metropolitan Planning Organization
Serving the La Crosse/La Crescent Urbanized Area

Peter Fletcher, Director  Jackie Eastwood, Transportation Planner
Planwing Committce La Crosse County Administrative Center
212 6% Street North & Room 1200 & La Crosse, WI 54601-1200
PH: 608.785.5977 Website: www.lapc.org

—keeping you ma ving in the Coulee Region

LA CROSSE AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE
Minutes of January 20, 2021
Held via Microsoft Teams

MEMBERS PRESENT: | Mike Poellinger, Martin Gaul, Kim Smith, Patrick Barlow, Monica
Kruse, Tim Candahl (arr. 4:45p)

MEMBERS EXCUSED: | Terry Schaller, Linda Seidel, Stan Hauser, Dennis Manthei

OTHERS PRESENT: Peter Fletcher, Jackie Eastwood, Steve O’Malley, Angel Much
(Recorder), James Kuehn, Bob Gollnick, Olivia Herken, Stephen
Flottmeyer (WisDOT)

CALL TO ORDER
Chair Mike Poellinger called the meeting to order via Microsoft Teams. Roll call was taken
and a quorum was called.

PUBLIC COMMENT: There was no public comment.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE NOVEMBER 18, 2020 LAPC MEETING

MOTION by Gaul/Barlow to approve the minutes of the November 18, 2020 La Crosse Area
Planning Committee meeting. Motion carried unanimously with 5 excused: Manthei,
Schaller, Seidel, Hauser, Candahl.

APPROVE AMENDING THE 2021-2024 TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
Fletcher advised he had sent the revised resolution and amendment in the meeting packet.
The TIP amendment includes:
= 2 MTU bus replacements (low floor diesel hybrids)
= Wisconsin TAP projects awarded last year are being added to TIP
o Hwy 16 Veteran’'s Park Bridge - $832,600
o Multi-use trail adjacent to Hwy 16 - $681,000
» Resolution addresses $260,000 of Emergency Relief funding for MTU (Covid related
safety improvements)
= Pages 23-28 has been rewritten incorporating performance targets approved by LAPC
at the November 2020 LAPC meeting
= The required 15-day public comment period was conducted

TAC recommended approval of the TIP amendment.

MOTION by Kruse/Smith to approve amending the 2021-2024 Transportation Improvement
Program. Motion carried unanimously with 5 excused: Manthei, Schaller, Seidel,
Hauser, Candahl.

REGIONAL TRANSIT DEVELOPMENT PLAN UPDATE

At November meeting, the LAPC as part of the 2021 MPO work program approved $76,250
funding for local studies to hire consultant in 2021 to develop Regional Transit Development
Plan. A goal of the Transit Development Plan is to identify transit improvements that meet
the travel needs of residents and visitors. This includes improving MTU, OSR, and SMRT
transit services as individual agencies and improving coordination as well as interaction with
human services agencies, and other transportation modes (Amtrak, Jefferson Lines, Airport,
park-and-rides, etc.).



La Crosse Area Planning Committee

Metropolitan Planning Organization
Serving the La Crosse/La Crescent Urbanized Area

Peter Fletcher, Director  Jackie Eastwood, Transportation Planner
Planwing Committce La Crosse County Administrative Center
212 6% Street North & Room 1200 & La Crosse, WI 54601-1200
PH: 608.785.5977 Website: www.lapc.org

—keeping you ma ving in the Coulee Region

After working with

the County Finance Dept on the Request for Proposal, project bidding & procurement, and
RFP was developed and put out for bid in mid-December. One qualified bid was received by
SRF Consulting Group that was within the budget.

MPO staff along with representation from MTU, SMRT, and OSR reviewed the proposal and
met with the consultant and are moving ahead with finalizing project details. The project
will start in February and should be completed by the end of the year. The consultant will
give a presentation of the project to the LAPC at the May meeting and by that time will have
background information, market analysis information, and initial public input will have been
received.

Questions from the committee were answered by Fletcher.

UPDATE ON STATUS OF THE COULEE REGION TRANSPORTATION STUDY — WI DEPT
Fletcher explained that LAPC had updated its Metropolitan Transportation Plan last fall and
within the long-range transportation plan there are numerous action items to be
accomplished beginning in 2021. One of those action strategies was to facilitate discussions
between WisDOT and the LAPC Policy Board to move the Coulee Region Transportation
Study (CRTS) forward such that it can inform future efforts in TIP projects 243-06-012 and
243-06-013.

Fletcher advised that since the CRTS went through its planning process in 2014-2015 no
final report has been presented. Based on past minutes a draft final report was forwarded to
FHWA for their review in 2016 but no further action has taken place and no final report was
released.

Steve Flottmeyer, WisDOT, followed with a PowerPoint presentation which provided some
background on the Coulee Region Transportation Study (CRTS) and updated LAPC on the
status of the study. Flottmeyer’s presentation included some of the following:
Summary of past plans/studies:
= General Plan for La Crosse Area -1970
= La Crosse Area Transportation Plan — 1977
= 190 — Gillette Street — 1980s
» La Crosse River Valley Study -1997
= N/S Corridor Study -1998
= Coulee Connection — 2007
= Coulee Region Transportation Study (Planning & Environmental Linkages)—
2015
» La Crosse MPO Plans
Flottmeyer provided a brief history of the North-South Corridor and CRTS studies before
going over strategies to move forward which were the following:
= H+ALl: 6 Lane WIS 16 from 190 to La Crosse Street with 4 Lane on La Crosse Street.
= H+F1: Extend US 53 south, connect to WIS 35 at St. Cloud Street.
= H+F3: Extend US 53 south, use Gillette Street to connect to WIS 35 and US 53
(railroad corridor)
= H+F4: Extend US 53 south, cross WIS 35, continue south to US 14.
= H+F5: Extend US 53 south, connect to WIS 35 at Monitor Street, continue to Rose
Street.
= H+E2+F5: New road from 190 to Downtown La Crosse — French Island



La Crosse Area Planning Committee

Metropolitan Planning Organization
Serving the La Crosse/La Crescent Urbanized Area

Peter Fletcher, Director  Jackie Eastwood, Transportation Planner
Planwing Committce La Crosse County Administrative Center
212 6% Street North & Room 1200 & La Crosse, WI 54601-1200
PH: 608.785.5977 Website: www.lapc.org

—keeping you ma ving in the Coulee Region

Flottmeyer then provided additional details regarding Strategy H which were as follows:

= TDM (Travel Demand Management) — Park and Ride; Support flex hours; Promote
rideshare

= Policy and Legislation — Support parking management strategies; complete streets,
intergovernmental cooperation

» Bike and Pedestrian — Bike lanes/separated bike lanes; sidewalk/multi-use paths;
Enhanced crossings at logical locations; dedicated bike lanes

» Transit — Express bus service; Support Regional Transit Authority; Bus priority
signals

» TSMO (Transportation System Management, Operations and Technology — Upgraded
signals; Increased traveler information

= Improve Existing Road — Replace pavement; add bike lanes/sidewalks; Intersection
improvements; Add turn lanes

Flottmeyer followed with “next steps moving forward” which is the Traffic Operational and
Safety Analysis advising WisDOT doesn’t have immediate plans for a major highway project
in the La Crosse Region. Although plans to reconstruct the US 53 corridor have been
discussed in the past, there are no projects currently planned for the region.

WisDOT is currently conducting a safety and operations study of all north-south corridors,
looking at congestion and crash rate data to help address safety concerns there. That study
is vital to keeping the US 53 corridor safe, regardless of whether a major project is ever
constructed. The results of the study will help determine whether the dept. will continue
with previous environmental evaluations or move forward with individual improvements.
That study involves the following:
=  Gathering traffic volume data throughout the corridor using city provided 2019
turning movement counts; 2017 average annual daily traffic (AADT) and collect
other turning movements not included in city data. New data to be adjusted based
on historical traffic data resources and to be verified with future counting.
=  Summary of existing roadways and bridges; updated crash information; analysis
methodology and identify potential factors for observed safety and operational
concerns.
= Analyzing the crash history of project roadways and intersections to determine where
safety problems have been occurring.
= Analyzing the capacity of existing project roadways and intersections to determine
the level of service (LOS) of the corridor. The operational analysis will include the
existing conditions (2017 & 2019) and the design year (2050).
= The project will analyze future operations, safety concerns and other impacts to the
local transportation system.
= No public involvement anticipated as part of this study. Public involvement would be
in the next stage.



La Crosse Area Planning Committee

Metropolitan Planning Organization
Serving the La Crosse/La Crescent Urbanized Area

Peter Fletcher, Director  Jackie Eastwood, Transportation Planner
Planwing Committce La Crosse County Administrative Center
212 6% Street North & Room 1200 & La Crosse, WI 54601-1200
PH: 608.785.5977 Website: www.lapc.org

—keeping you ma ving in the Coulee Region

The final slide showed the following timeline:
= Traffic Data Collection Plan — September 1, 2020
= Traffic Data Collection — October 15, 2020
= Existing Conditions Memo — February 1, 2021
= No-Build Conditions Memo — April 1, 2021
= Traffic Data Verification Collection — May 1, 2021
=  Amend Memos — June 1, 2021
= Draft Safety & Operations Report — December 1, 2021
= Final Safety & Operations Report — July 1, 2022

Fletched advised that in November 2020 the City of La Crosse passed a resolution and
forwarded it to the WisDOT “Transportation Projects Commission” requesting “the Wisconsin
Department of Transportation’s Transportation Projects Commission remove the currently
enumerated U.S. Highway 53 corridor alternative 5B-1 of 1997 from the state’s list of major
highway projects”. The resolution also referenced the six build strategies in the CRTS. Via a
letter, the WisDOT Transportation Project Commission said the enumerated US Hwy 53
major project and resolution will be taken into consideration at a future meeting of the TPC.

Some committee members commented. Questions from the committee were answered by
Flottmeyer.

FIREZEMS STUDY

O’Malley gave an update on the Fire/EMS Study advising the study was completed and will
be presented to LAPC at the March meeting. After getting feedback and direction from the
LAPC, this will also be presented to County Board the same month in order to get input from
elected officials.

DIRECTORS REPORT
Peter Fletcher gave his Director’s Report:
e Working with County IT updating the website and launching the new site by the end
of this month
e Future meetings in-person/Teams hybrid was discussed. Committee consensus was
that the next meeting should be virtual and to revisit this then.
e Town of Holland Board approved becoming a dues paying member; will formally
announce at next meeting
o In future meetings, bylaws and various agreements will have to be updated

OTHER BUSINESS - none noted.
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS
e Fire/EMS Study consultant presentation
e 2021-2024 TIP Amendment
NEXT MEETING DATE: March 17, 2021
ADJOURN

MOTION by Gaul/Barlow to adjourn the meeting at 5:29 p.m. Motion carried
unanimously with 4 excused: Schaller, Seidel, Hauser, Manthai.



La Crosse Area Planning Committee

Metropolitan Planning Organization
Serving the La Crosse/La Crescent Urbanized Area

Peter Fletcher, Director  Jackie Eastwood, Transportation Planner
Planwing Committce La Crosse County Administrative Center
212 6% Street North & Room 1200 & La Crosse, WI 54601-1200
PH: 608.785.5977 Website: www.lapc.org

—keeping you ma ving in the Coulee Region

Disclaimer: The above minutes may be approved, amended or corrected at the next
committee meeting.

Recorded by Angel Much



La Crosse Area Planning Committee

RESOLUTION 2 - 2021

APPROVING THE
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan Targets for
La Crosse Municipal Transit Utility and Onalaska Shared Ride

WHEREAS, the U. S. Department of Transportation established seven (7) performance measures for the Public
Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) as detailed in 49 USC 5329 Public transportation safety program; and

WHEREAS, Onalaska Shared Ride and La Crosse Municipal Transit Utility have coordinated with the La Crosse
Area Planning Committee in the development of their PTASP safety targets and have approved and certified
their Public Transportation Agency Safety Plans; and,

WHEREAS, the LAPC has 180 days from the approval of the MTU and OSR targets to either agree to plan and
program projects so that they contribute to the accomplishment of those targets or coordinate with the
agencies to develop planning area-wide targets; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the La Crosse Area Planning Committee agrees to plan and program
projects that contribute to the accomplishment of the following MTU and OSR PTASP targets:

Measure La Crosse MTU Onalaska Shared Ride
Total number of reportable fatalities 0.0 0.0

Rate of reportable fatalities per total VRM 0.0 0.0

Total number of reportable injuries 0.2 0.6

Rate of reportable injuries per total VRM 0.0 0.0

Total number of reportable safety events 0.2 2.0

Rate of reportable safety events per total VRM 0.0 0.0

Average distance between major mechanical failures 11,272.2 322,848.9

LA CROSSE AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

Michael Poellinger, Chair

Peter Fletcher, Executive Director
Dated: March 17, 2021



2021 - 2024 Transportation Improvement Program Project List

March 17, 2020 2021 (x$1000) 2022 (x$1000) 2023 (x$1000) 2024 (x$1000)
Project State ID Sponsoring . ferfi . Exp. Local / Local / Local / Local / Source of
Number | Number | Agency Project Description Project Type Type Fed wi MN Other Total Fed Wi MN Other Total Fed wi MN Other Total Fed Wi MN Other Total Funds
MNNESOTA PROJECTS 2021 2022 2023 2024
028-606-024, **AC**: CSAH 6, From Winona County Line to Town Hall OPIE STBG
243-18-013 028-606- Houston County Road, Bituminous Reclamation / Bituminous Pavement Sys Pres ther B
024AC (Need AC Payback) Const | 1680.0 1.680.0
TOTAL | 1,680.0 1,680.0
PE
City of La " Other TAP
243-18-014 -090-
236-090-003 Crescent La Crescent Wagon Wheel Trail Phase 3 Other CAPT 1,000.0 1.250.0 2.2500
TOTAL | 1,000.0 1,250.0 2,250.0
PE
o0 _ » City of La City of La Crescent; Purchase One (1) Class 400 Low Floor - OA STBG
243-20:032 | TRS-3780-21 | Croccan Bus (Replaces Unit 103) Transit CAPT 776 70.0 16.4 164.0
TOTAL 77.6 70.0 16.4 164.0
PE
243-09-015 TRF-3780-21, City of La SECT 5307: La Crescent Transit Operating Assistance Transit OA 112.0 263.0 375.0 112.0 263.0 375.0 112.0 263.0 375.0 5307
22,23 Crescent CAPT
TOTAL 112.0 263.0 375.0 1120 263.0 375.0 112.0 263.0 375.0
WISCONSIN TRANSIT PROJECTS 2021 2022 2023 2024
PE
243-03-037 La Crosse MiniBus, Volunteer Driver Transit oA 269.6 539 3235 269.6 539 3235 269.6 539| 3235 269.6 539| 3235  SF
County CAPT
TOTAL 269.6 53.9 323.5 269.6 53.9 323.5 269.6 53.9 3235 269.6 53.9 323.5
PE
243-03-039 L;:(I:?/ngse MTU Operating Assistance Transit cié'r 2,028.0| 1,493.2 5,475.2 8,996.4| 2,028.0| 1,493.2 5,475.2 8,996.4] 2,028.0| 1,493.2 5,475.2 8,996.4| 2,028.0| 1,493.2 5,475.2 8,996.4 5307
TOTAL | 2,028.0] 14932 5475.2 8,996.4] 2,028.0] 1,493.2 5,475.2 8,996.4] 2028.0| 1,493.2 5475.2 8,996.4] 2028.0] 1,493.2 5,475.2 8,996.4
PE
City of : . . . OA 5307
243-20-033
LaCrosse MTU Replacement Service Vehicles, Two (2) Priuses Transit CAPT Continued
TOTAL
PE
243-20-034 City of i i o ; S307
-20- LaCrosse MTU Three (3) Replacement Service Vans Transit CAPT Continued
TOTAL
243-20-035 City of MTU In-Ground and Movab_le Wheel Engaging Vehicle Transit OA ] 5307
LaCrosse Hoists CAPT Continued
TOTAL
PE
10 City of La MTU purchase of one 35-ft Diesel Bus. Obligated in 2019. . OA 5339
243-19-033 Crosse Capital acquired in 2021. Transit CAPT Continued
TOTAL
MTU purchase of one 35-ft Clean Diesel Bus. Obligated in PE
243-19-034 VW-BUS- City of La 2019. Capital will be acquired in 2021 due to delays created Transit OA vw
LACR-01 Crosse by COVID-19. (The Local Share will be paid over 10 years CAPT Continued
through shared revenue reduction.) TOTAL
City of La Two (2) Replacement Fixed-Route Low-Floor Diesel-Electric gi W
243-21-001 Hybrid Buses. (The Local Share will be paid over 10 years Transit -
Crosse " CAPT 1,098.4 274.6 1,373.0 Continued
thi h shared duction. - S
rough shared revenue reduction.) TOTAL 1.098.4 274.6]  1.373.0
PE
10 07 City of La MTU Buses, MTU Public Transit, 3 MTU Buses, Obligated in . OA STBG
243-19-031 | 5991-07-40 Crosse 2020 Transit CAPT Continued
TOTAL
MTU Low- or No-Emission - 2 Electric Buses, 2 Charging PE
243-19-019 City of La Stations, Infrastructure on Electric Grid; funds obligated in Transit OA Continued 5339(c)
Crosse 2019; capital will be acquired in 2021 due to delays created CAPT
by COVID-19 TOTAL
PE
10 004 y Transit Vans, OHWS Public Transit, 5 Transit Vans, y OA Continued: 5339(c)
243-19-032 | 5991-02-60 |City of Onalaskal Obligated in 2019 Transit CAPT
TOTAL
PE
1. Vehicle Loans, Operating, Mobility Management (WETAP). - OA 10.0 17.8 27.8 55.7 5307
243-18-027 Couleecap Crawford, La Crosse, and Vernon Counties Transit CAPT 10.0 16.9 6.7 33.7 85.24
TOTAL 20.0 34.8 34.6 89.3
" R PE
Mobility Management, Volunteer Driver Program and
243-09-010 Vernon County |  Vernon County Mini Bus. Serves locations in La Crosse Transit OA 26.2 431 69.3 5310
Area CAPT 34.8 12.0 46.8
TOTAL 61.0 55.1 116.1
Vernon Area gE 310
243-20-018 Rehabilitation Three (3) medium bus replacement vehicles Transit A " 531
c CAPT Continued
enter
TOTAL
La Crosse Twp battery electric cutaway buses and associated gE
243-20-013 infrastructure equipment for Scenic Mississippi Regional Transit A vw
County y . CAPT 492.6 77.4 570.0
Transit (SMRT) service
TOTAL 492.6 77.4 570.0
PE
243-20-024 | 5991-02-01 |City of Onalaska| Four (4) Transit Vans, Obligation in 2020 Transit OA STBG
! CAPT Continued
TOTAL
PE
o0 ey City of La " Lo " OA STBG
243-20-025 | 5991-05-00 Crosse One (1) MTU Diesel Bus, Obligation in 2020 Transit CAPT Continued
TOTAL
PE
243-20-026 La Crosse One (1) Standard 30-ft Bus Replacement, Obligation in Transit OA 5339
County 2022. CAPT 240.0 60.0 300.0
TOTAL 240.0 60.0 300.0
PE
243-20-036 La Crosse Rehabilitation/Rebuild, Two 30-ft Buses (ADA) - SMRT, Transit OA 5311
County Obligated in 2021 CAPT 45.0 5.0 50.0
TOTAL 45.0 5.0 50.0
PE
243-13-013 La Crosse Scenic Mississippi Regional Transit (SMRT) La Crosse, Transit OA 213.6 53.4 160.2 427.2 5311
County Crawford, Monroe, and Vernon Counties CAPT
TOTAL 213.6 53.4 160.2 427.2
PE
03 11.12.15 y Onalaska / Holmen / West Salem Public Transit. Operating " OA 264.4 195.0 398.0 857.4 5307
24303043 | 1)'g3p | CMY Of Onalaska Assistance, Additional vans (2017 - 2022) Transit e et
TOTAL 264.4 195.0 398.0 857.4




La Crosse Area Planning Committee

RESOLUTION 3 - 2021

AMENDING THE
2021 - 2024 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) for the La Crosse / La Crescent Planning Area

WHEREAS, the U. S. Department of Transportation regulations require the development and approval of a
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) for the metropolitan planning area by the Metropolitan Planning
Organization (MPO); and

WHEREAS, the La Crosse Area Planning Committee approved the 2021-2024 TIP on October 21, 2020; and

WHEREAS, since adoption of the TIP, the La Crescent transit capital project has been amended from a Class 400 Bus
to a Class 400 Low Floor Bus:

243-20-032 City of La Crescent; Purchase One (1) Class 400 Low Floor Bus (Replaces Unit 103)
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the La Crosse Area Planning Committee, hereby, approves an amendment
to the 2021-2024 TIP tables and document as reflected on page 4 (attached) of Table 4 of the TIP Project List.

LA CROSSE AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

Michael Poellinger, Chair

Peter Fletcher, Executive Director
Dated: March 17, 2021



somethHing in
COMmMOn

Exploring Fire and EMS Service Sharing
Opportunities in the La Crosse County Region

WISCONSIN

hll poLICY FORUM



ABOUT THE WISCONSIN POLICY FORUM

The Wisconsin Policy Forum was created on January 1, 2018, by the merger of the Milwaukee-based
Public Policy Forum and the Madison-based Wisconsin Taxpayers Alliance. Throughout their lengthy
histories, both organizations engaged in nonpartisan, independent research and civic education on
fiscal and policy issues affecting state and local governments and school districts in Wisconsin. WPF
is committed to those same activities and that spirit of nonpartisanship.

PREFACE AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report was undertaken to provide citizens and policymakers in La Crosse County and its
surrounding region with information on the state of fire and EMS service provision across the region
and options for collaboratively addressing future challenges. The intent was to lay out programmatic
data, illustrate key challenges, and discuss options for improvement, but not to make
recommendations on the future of fire and EMS services for individual communities.

Report authors would like to thank fire chiefs, public and private sector EMS directors, the county
dispatch office, and county and municipal administrators for their assistance in providing
information, and for patiently answering our questions.

In addition, we wish to acknowledge and thank La Crosse County and the La Crosse Area Planning
Committee for jointly commissioning and underwriting much of the cost of this research; and the
University of Wisconsin-La Crosse for funding and helping to organize preliminary planning meetings
in the summer of 2019 that precipitated this study.



SOMETHING IN
COMMON

Exploring Fire and EMS Service Sharing Opportunities
in the La Crosse County Region

December 2020

Study authors:

Davida Amenta, Wisconsin Policy Forum Researcher
Chris Paul, Wisconsin Policy Forum Research Intern
John Kovari, University of Wisconsin-La Crosse
Rob Henken, Wisconsin Policy Forum President



TABLE OF CONTENTS

T oo 1U T 1 o] o ISR 3
Characteristics of the Participating MuniCipalities .....ccueeiiecceeeiieiier e e 5
General DemographiC CharaCteriSTiCS. ... e e e e s e s e e e e e s e eaee e e e s nneeeeenns 5
Relevant Housing and Other CharacCteriStiCS ......uuivrrrrerrieee e 7
101010 = Y 9
Overview Of PartiCipating ABENCIES ..o cuieeiccieiee e et e e ectre e s eerete e s e s e e s s s ae e e s esseeessssseeessasseeeesasseeesenseeessnnes 10
Service Characteristics, EQUIpMeENt, and BUAEETS.....oiiccuiiiieciiinicieeereiee e e 14
L0721 Eo R (o =TT YT SRR RRRRRP 14
Lo TUTT T l=T aLur=Y e I o100 F == £ PSRN 21
101210 = YR 23
L@ o1 o T 0o [0 g e] 0= = 26
Tier 1: Enhanced Functional SErvice SNaring .........ccecoerrieiriieerreee e e 26
Tier 2: Enhanced Coordination Of OPEratioNS.......cccccveereeeeiieciiiinrereee s s seesssarereeesesesssssseresssssesssnssseseees 29
BT G AV V7= T oot =T I o (o] o PP 33
L0700 To7 1V 1= (o o SRR PT PP 46
Appendix I: Snapshot Descriptions Of AZENCIES ...iuuuiiiiiceiieirieei et re e sseeenan 48
L0V ) = T O 0 1= I P 48
ONAlaSKa Fire DEPArTMENT ... ..uueeieiiiiiecciereieees s eeeernrereees e s e s s sssrereeesesessssssrereeesesessssssreeesesesasnssnnneeesenenns 48
0] Ta gL QI (= TN I PR 49
T Te] L o) VA T =T =T = 4 =T o SR 50
= O =TT o7 T o A I S 50
Tri-State AMDUIGNCE SEIVICE ....eeiieeieeee e e e s e e e s se e s e e e e ne e s ne e e s ne e s aneeennneesnnean 51
Brice Prairie FIrSt RESPDONUEIS.....uuiiiiieieieieieieieeeeeeetetetereeereretetererererererarerererererererararerererererererarererersrarene 51
Farmington Emergency MediCal TEAM ..o i s e e s 52

2 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




INTRODUCTION

It is at times of crisis that citizens recognize more than ever the value of highly-functioning
emergency response departments and systems. During such times, exemplified by the current
COVID-19 pandemic, not only is it critical to have sufficient numbers of well-trained personnel and
appropriate equipment, but the value of cooperation and coordination among neighboring public
safety and health agencies also becomes more pronounced.

Even before the pandemic, efforts to explore enhanced service sharing and cooperation among
regional fire and emergency medical services (EMS) providers were becoming more common in
Wisconsin and across the nation. For example, the North Shore Fire Department in Milwaukee
County has received national attention as an example of a highly successful consolidated fire
department that has seen improved service at a lower cost since its creation in 1995. The South
Shore Fire Department in Racine County and Western Lakes Fire District in Waukesha County also
have demonstrated the benefits that can accrue from fire and rescue consolidation. Other
communities have stopped short of consolidation but have developed strong mutual and automatic
aid agreements among neighboring jurisdictions.

One reason for the increased attention to service sharing in Wisconsin is the strict property tax levy
limits facing municipalities and the substantial share of municipal budgets devoted to fire and EMS
services, which have threatened the ability of many communities to keep up with growing service
demands. Yet, while service sharing may provide opportunities for fiscal savings from economies of
scale, the Wisconsin Policy Forum has found that a more compelling rationale is the potential for
municipalities to enhance service levels and keep up with capital needs at a cost that would be far
lower than if they attempted to do so individually.

For smaller communities in particular, service sharing or consolidation may offer an opportunity to
secure full-time fire and EMS service capacity for a price tag that would not be affordable if pursued
independently. Meanwhile, for larger communities facing service expansion demands, such
strategies may offer the opportunity to spread the cost of such expansion while providing a higher
level of service across a broader geographic area.

La Crosse County and the La Crosse Area Planning Committee (LAPC) jointly commissioned this
report to explore options for enhanced service sharing and consolidation of services among the
various fire departments and EMS providers in La Crosse County, as well as in the neighboring city of
La Crescent in Minnesota. The decision to do so followed two initial planning meetings of the LAPC
that were sponsored and financially supported by the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse. At those
meetings, municipal leaders and public and private sector fire and EMS officials were invited to
discuss the need for such a project and its scope.

Subsequently, at the request of the county administrator, participants were asked to indicate
whether they would like to participate in the study. Those that elected to do so comprise most of the
municipal fire and EMS providers in the county and are listed below:

3 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




e City of La Crosse

e City of La Crescent
e City of Onalaska

e Village of Holmen

e Town of Farmington
e Town of Holland

e Town of Medary

e Town of Onalaska

e Town of Shelby

e Town of Washington
e Brice Prairie First Responders
o Tri-State Ambulance

The rationale for exploring fire and EMS service sharing and consolidation options in La Crosse
County includes growing demands for service in parts of the region marked by increased
development and population growth; challenges with current staffing models (including difficulty with
recruitment and retention of paid-on-call firefighters); and a desire to consider cooperative
approaches with regard to possible new stations or other service enhancements.

The analysis was conducted with the participation of administrators and fire chiefs from each of the
participants and the county. In fact, while not endorsing any specific approach, the chiefs from the
five participating fire departments met regularly with Forum researchers throughout the study
process to share information and discuss operational details of various service sharing options.

In the pages that follow, we lay out the results of our analysis. It is important to note that its purpose
was not to recommend a specific consolidation approach and implementation plan. Instead, we
present a range of potential options and provide sufficient analysis to hopefully allow decision-
makers to determine which (if any) should be considered for more detailed study and
implementation.

4 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




CHARACTERISTICS OF THE
PARTICIPATING MUNICIPALITIES

This section gives a brief overview of demographic characteristics of the study participants that are
relevant to fire and EMS services. For some of our analysis, we also include the town of Campbell -
which elected not to participate - in light of its proximity to the study participants; and the town of
Greenfield, which is covered by the Shelby Fire Department.

The communities within the study area include urban areas, urbanizing areas, and areas that remain
essentially rural. Generally speaking, population and employment are concentrated most heavily in
the cities along the Mississippi river, in particular the city of La Crosse. New development is
constrained in La Crosse since the city has less available land. Population growth is most
pronounced in the northern parts of the study area, in particular around the village of Holmen.

General Demographic Characteristics

Table 1 shows population trends between 2010 and 2019. While population is highly concentrated
in La Crosse, growth in the city has been slow in comparison with northern suburbs. Holmen,
Onalaska, Farmington, and Holland have all experienced significant growth since 2010. With the
exception of Greenfield, population growth in the southern part of the region has been slower.

Table 1: 2010-2019 population change by municipality*

Central Urban Area 2019 2010 to 2019 2010 to 2019
Municipality Population Change % Change

Holmen 10,204 1,749 20.8%
Onalaska 18,988 1,851 10.8
La Crosse 52,197 965 1.9%
La Crescent (MN) 5,107 277 5.7%
Surrounding Towns

Farmington 2,119 338 20.3%
Holland 4,216 661 18.6%
Onalaska 5,816 262 4.7%
Medary 1,524 -255 -14.3%
Campbell 4,316 16 0.4%
La Crescent (MN) 1,115 -331 -22.9%
Shelby 4,750 50 1.1%
Greenfield 2,132 322 18.4%

Source: 2019 Population Estimates from WI DOA Municipality Final Population
Estimates, 2018 Populations from MN DOA Population Finder for Cities and Townships,
2010 Census Estimates

* This table, like most others in this section, lists municipalities from north to south

As shown in Table 2, projections of population growth by the Wisconsin Department of Administration
show that these trends are likely to continue, with growth rates of more than 25% in Holland,

5 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Onalaska, and Holmen. Little to no growth is projected for La Crosse. Greenfield is also projected to
experience more than a 25% increase in population.t

Table 2: Population projections
Central Urban Area 2019 2040 % Change

Municipality Population Projection (2019 to 2040)
Holmen 10,204 13,400 31.3%
Onalaska 18,988 23,570 24.1%
La Crosse 52,197 51,850 -0.7%
Farmington 2,119 2,535 19.6%
Holland 4,216 5,500 30.5%
Onalaska 5,816 6,485 11.5%
Medary 1,524 1,630 7.0%
Campbell 4,316 4,315 0.0%
Shelby 4,750 4,665 -1.8%
Greenfield 2,132 2,715 27.3%

Source: 2019 Population Estimates from WI DOA Municipality Final Population Estimates, WI DOA Municipal Population
Projections 2010 to 2040

Because the highest users of EMS services are people over the age of 65, Table 3 shows the senior
populations for each community. Again, there is some distinction between northern and southern
parts of the region, with some northern municipalities showing lower percentages of citizens age 65
and older and some southern parts showing higher percentages. La Crosse has a relatively low
senior citizen population at 13.5%, but the city also has a large college student population.

Table 3: Median age and population age 65+
Central Urban Area 2017 Total
Municipality Population 65+ % 65+ Median Age

Holmen 9,693 1,082 11.2% 35.4
Onalaska 18,452 3,429 18.6% 41.5
La Crosse 51,928 6,987 13.5% 28.3
La Crescent 5,046 939 18.6% 40.6
Farmington 2,255 348 15.4% 38.3
Holland 3,804 405 10.6% 38.5
Onalaska 5,690 763 13.4% 41.9
Medary 1,589 307 19.3% 48.5
Campbell 4,370 851 19.5% 46.1
La Crescent 1,116 250 22.4% 53.5
Shelby 4,847 1,048 21.6% 47.8
Greenfield 2,087 317 15.2% 42.6

Source: US Census American Community Survey Age and Sex, 2017 5 YR Estimate

1 We were unable to obtain population projections for Minnesota cities and towns so the city and town of La Crescent are
not included in the table. Similarly, where the La Crescent communities are not included in subsequent tables it was
because of an inability to secure the data in question for those municipalities.

6 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Table 4 shows population projections for persons aged 65+ for all of La Crosse County. The senior
population is projected to increase by almost 40% between 2020 and 2040 countywide.

Table 4: County age 65+ projections

2020 22,170
2025 25,950
2030 28,840
2035 30,370
2040 30,990
% Change 2010 - 2040 39.78%

Source: WI DOA County Age-Sex Population Projections 2010-2040 (2013)

Fire departments report that senior housing facilities can account for a large proportion of EMS calls.
Table 5 details the number of senior housing facilities, including residential care facilities and
apartment complexes, in each of the municipalities.2 La Crosse has the most nursing homes and
other senior residences while Onalaska also houses a high number of other senior residences.

Table 5: Senior facilities by municipality

Nursing Other Senior
Municipality Homes Re5|dences Total Beds3

Holmen 0 161
City of Onalaska 1 502
La Crosse 4 15 883
City of La Crescent 1 2 N/A

Source: WI DHS, MDH

Relevant Housing and Other Characteristics

The prevalence of higher density housing, such as apartment buildings, also impacts how fire
protection services are organized. Table 6 shows the number of residential buildings in each
community that exceed both three and 20 units. La Crosse, as home to three higher education
institutions,4 has a significantly larger percentage of multi-unit housing. Outside of the central urban
area, prevalence of multi-unit housing is very low, with the exception of Campbell.

2 Municipalities not listed do not have either nursing homes or other senior residences in their municipality.

3 Minnesota Department of Health (MDH) does not keep record of total beds in nursing homes and senior residences like
WI DHS

4 The University of Wisconsin-La Crosse has about 10,600 enrollees, Western Technical College has about 4,000, and
Viterbo University has about 2,700.

7 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 il




Table 6: Housing units by municipality

Central Urban Area  Estimated Total 3t019 3+ Units as a % of
Municipality Units units 20 + Units Total: 3+ Total
Holmen 3,819 439 144 583 15.3%
Onalaska 8,255 956 673 1,629 19.7%
La Crosse 22,405 3,992 3,504 7,496 33.5%
La Crescent 2,244 321 39 360 16.0%
SurroundingTowns | |
Farmington 891 13 6 19 2.1%
Holland 1,294 0 0 0 0.0%
Onalaska 2,071 26 0 26 1.3%
Medary 663 0 0 0 0.0%
Campbell 2,132 400 34 434 20.4%
La Crescent 472 0 0 0 0.0%
Shelby 2,215 30 0 30 1.4%
Greenfield 802 3 10 13 1.6%

Source: US Census: American Community Survey, House Characteristics - Units in Structure 5 - Year Estimates 2017

Commercial buildings also can present unique challenges in terms of fire protection. Table 7 shows
commercial property value as a percentage of each community’s total assessed value to give a
sense of the relative presence of commercial properties in each municipality. Commercial
development is concentrated in the central urban area, especially in La Crosse and the city of
Onalaska. La Crosse, as the commercial core of the region, particularly faces unique challenges in
needing to be prepared to provide services to large daytime populations.

The table also shows per capita assessed value, which can be an indicator of ability to pay for public
services such as fire and EMS protection. Many of the surrounding towns have much higher per
capita assessed values than the municipalities in the central urban area, including La Crosse.

Table 7: Commercial assessed value by municipality
Commercial % of

Central Urban Total Assessed Total Assessed
Area Municipality Value Value Per Capita AV
Holmen $ 771,084,100 21.9% $ 75,567
Onalaska $ 2,098,305,900 32.6% $ 110,507
La Crosse $ 4,022,713,300 38.4% $ 77,068

Total $ 6,892,103,300 34.8% $ 84,681

Surrounding

Towns

Farmington $ 186,316,700 1.4% $ 87,927

Holland $ 445,156,900 2.1% $ 105,588
Onalaska $ 617,582,600 5.7% $ 106,187
Medary $ 185,765,400 5.0% $ 121,893
Campbell $ 355,848,700 15.0% $ 82,449
Shelby $ 465,787,900 4.6% $98,061

Greenfield $ 182,691,100 3.3% $ 85,690
Total $ 2,439,149,300 5.6% $ 98,064

Source: Wisconsin DOR Equalized Value 2019, WI DOA Municipality Final Population Estimates 2019

8 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Finally, our discussions with fire chiefs revealed that manufactured homes (i.e. homes that are
typically built in factories and transported to a site as opposed to on a permanent foundation) can be
a high source of fire and EMS calls for service in light of their high population density. Table 8 shows
that manufactured homes parks are found in almost all of the municipalities in the study area but
are particularly concentrated in areas served by the Holmen Area Fire Department. Shelby and
Greenfield, which are both served by the Shelby Fire Department, also have a higher concentration
of manufactured housing.

Table 8: Manufactured homes and home parks
Central Urban Area Manufactured

Municipality Home Parks Total Homes
Holmen 6 470
Onalaska 5 417
La Crosse 4 325
Surrounding Towns
Farmington 1 10
Holland 1 87
Onalaska 0 0
Medary 1 25
Campbell 2 58
Shelby 4 268
Greenfield 2 144

Summary

This brief review of demographic and other indicators shows patterns that are somewhat typical of a
region with a dominant central city, in this case La Crosse, as well as surrounding suburbs and
outlying rural areas. La Crosse is characterized by higher population and housing densities and by a
concentration of commercial activity. The location of the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, Western
Technical College, and Viterbo University within the city - as well as the Mayo and Gundersen health
systems - also contributes to its central role in the region.

As a more mature urban area, growth in La Crosse is not a significant factor in terms of future fire
and EMS services. The suburban or urbanizing areas, particularly in the north, are where population
growth has been concentrated and where it is projected to continue to occur over the next two
decades.

The study area also includes places that could be characterized as rural, such as Farmington, La
Crescent, and Shelby, which have markedly different demographic profiles of older, wealthier
residents and much lower population densities.

9 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




OVERVIEW OF PARTICIPATING
AGENCIES

The eight agencies that participated in the study include five fire departments, two EMS-only
nonprofit agencies, and a private ambulance company. “Snapshot” descriptions of each of the
agencies can be found in Appendix I.

The five fire departments range from a large department in La Crosse that is comprised entirely of
full-time “career” employees to fire departments that rely exclusively on volunteers who are paid on
an hourly basis or via stipend. The fire departments are responsible for fire suppression, prevention,
inspection, special rescue, and other fire services, as well as first responder emergency medical
services (EMS).

Two of the agencies (in Brice Prairie and Farmington) only provide EMS first response while a third -
Tri-State Ambulance -- is a private nonprofit agency (and subsidiary of Gundersen Health System)
that contracts with municipalities through the Joint City/County Emergency Medical Services
Commission to provide paramedic-level response and ambulance transport. Departments that
provide EMS first response typically use individuals who are licensed as Emergency Medical
Responders (EMRs) or basic Emergency Medical Technicians (EMTs), while agencies providing
advanced life support (ALS) services typically use licensed Advanced EMTs (AEMTs) or paramedics
(see text box on p. 12 for description of various types of licensed EMS staff).

Table 10 provides an overview of the types and variety of agencies that are included in this study,5
while Map 1 shows where their stations are located. The volunteer fire departments from Campbell,
Bangor Burns, Farmington, West Salem, and Coon Valley and EMS-only agencies from Campbell,
Bangor, Coon Valley, and West Salem elected not to participate.

Table 10: Department and agency characteristics

Department/Agency Staffing EMS/Fire

La Crosse City Fire Municipal Dept. Career Fire/First response ALS
Onalaska City Fire Municipal Dept. Career and PT  Fire/First response EMT
Shelby Fire Municipal Dept. POC Fire/First response EMR
Holmen Area Fire Independent District Career and PT  Fire/First response EMR*
City of La Crescent Fire Municipal Dept. POC Fire/First response EMR
Brice Prairie EMS Nonprofit Volunteer First response EMR
Farmington Emergency Medical Team Nonprofit Volunteer First response EMR*

ALS and transport for entire

Tri-State Ambulance Nonprofit Career and PT
county

* The Holmen Area and Farmington departments are transitioning from EMR to EMT

5 The source for this and all subsequent tables and charts (unless otherwise noted) is information provided directly by the
departments in our survey instrument or publicly available information obtained from their websites.

10 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Map1.: Station Locations

@] Farmington EMS

j—l_\JJj‘—J:]

W\

en Area FD

L=

Shelby FD

The map shows that La Crosse is served by four stations,® the Shelby area (consisting of both the
towns of Shelby and Greenfield) is served by two, and the other three fire departments operate out of
one station. Given the size of the geographic area served by the Holmen Area Fire Department
(which includes the village of Holmen, town of Holland, and part of the town of Onalaska) and
population growth in the northern part of its service area, officials have acknowledged that a second
station may need to be considered. Meanwhile, La Crosse has already initiated planning for a fifth
station in the southern part of the city and both La Crosse and Onalaska have cited a possible need

6 There is also a station at the La Crosse Regional Airport that exists solely to serve the airport. In 2019, an agreement was
reached to have the La Crosse FD take over emergency response by staffing the station with one firefighter/EMT. The
airport station has one fire and rescue vehicle that can pump water and foam. Also, La Crosse provides service under
contract to the town of Medary.

11  SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 il




to consider an additional station in the Valley View area in the northern part of La Crosse or southern
part of Onalaska (with potential to develop a shared station).

As seen in Table 10, thereis a EMS LICENSE LEVELS

variation in staffing models

between the agencies in this study. Emergency Medical Responder - EMRs are trained to provide non-
La Crosse is a career department invasive first aid. This includes clearing airways manually, CPR,
with 98 full-time equivalent controlling bleeding, and taking vital signs. EMRs are trained in

the use of portable defibrillator devices.

employees (FTEs) who staff an

average _Of 25 shifts each da)./ at Emergency Medical Technician-Basic - in addition to all of the
four stations. La Crosse also is the skills of an EMR, EMT-Bs are trained to perform more invasive

only municipal department medical skills such as tracheotomies, and in the use of
I{et=TaE =T Mo N ol (o)Vilo Mo Te=TaaleTo [Ien ISIV/SII  tourniquets and cervical collars. They are also able to administer
EMS. Onalaska and Holmen are oxygen and can provide more types of medications, including

combination departments, Narcan for opioid overdoses.
meaning they employ some career
staff but also use staff paid on an
hourly basis.

Advanced EMT - all of the skills of EMT-B, and in addition they can
start an IV and can administer a wider range of medications.

Paramedic - all of the skills of Advanced EMT with the addition of

Part-time staff can either serve as invasive procedures such as using a needle for chest
paid-on-call (POC), which means decompression and intubation. Paramedics are also able to
they are called in from their home administer the widest variety of medications.

or workplace when needed for a
response and paid on an hourly
basis; or paid-on-premise (POP),
which means they are part-time, hourly employees but work out of a station as part of a regular shift.
Shelby and La Crescent operate almost entirely with POC staff. Brice Prairie and Farmington EMS are
staffed with part-time volunteers who do not receive pay.

Source: WI EMS Scope of Practice, Wisconsin Department of Health Services

Table 11 provides additional details on the staffing levels and composition of each department. The
size of the POC roster is important for those who rely on this model, and particularly for those that
are facing rising call volumes. Both Shelby and La Crescent have large rosters, which position them
well for the future, but other departments reported recruitment challenges. This is an issue faced by
many departments in Wisconsin in light of low unemployment levels (prior to the pandemic) and
other workforce and demographic factors. Risks related to COVID-19 may also have reduced the pool
of volunteers.

The table also reveals the relatively low staffing level of the Holmen Area Fire Department. As we will
discuss below, that department is facing a sharp increase in call volumes and now fields about two
thirds as many calls annually as the Onalaska department but has less than half of its FTEs.

In its La Crosse market, Tri-State staffs six ambulances during the day with two staff each and has
two back-up ambulances available. Between 10 PM and 6 AM there are four ambulances in service
and one paramedic supervisor in an SUV for paramedic support. Tri-State also provides inter-facility
transport in La Crosse County. Non-emergency transports represent a significant source of revenue
for Tri-State which helps to subsidize the cost of EMS response.

12 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Table 11: Department staffing

Holmen FD 8.3 15
Onalaska FD 17.7 18
La Crosse FD 98.0 N/A
Shelby FD 2.3 43
La Crescent FD 2.3 27
Farmington EMS 17
Brice Prairie EMS 12
Tri-State Ambulance* 42 NA

*Some employees work for more than one department; this is seen especially between Tri-State and the La Crosse FD.

It is important to recognize that there is no “right” or “wrong” staffing model, and each of the staffing
models employed in La Crosse County may be perfectly suited to the particular community based on
the needs and expectations of its residents. Whether career or part-time, each of these agencies
responds to calls for emergency medical services and provides competent response under medical
direction. Each of the fire departments also uses modern equipment to suppress all types of fires
and provides regular training in both fire and EMS protocols. Although response times and some
protocols may vary, no model is correct in all circumstances.

In the next section, we provide more detail on how the agencies included in this study conduct their
operations and pay for them.

13 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




SERVICE CHARACTERISTICS,
EQUIPMENT, AND BUDGETS

In this section, we provide a more detailed look at the fire and EMS services provided by each of the
participating departments by examining call volumes, response times, operating frameworks,
apparatus, and budgets. This additional detail provides important insight into the similarities and
differences between various departments that may suggest opportunities or barriers to enhanced
service sharing. It also reveals various weaknesses or strengths that may impact future decision-
making on the need for capacity-building and collaboration.

Calls for service

Table 12 shows total 2019 calls for service, while also breaking out EMS calls. For the five fire
departments that provide both fire protection and EMS, EMS calls account for 73% of total calls.

Table 12: 2019 calls for service

| | TotalCalls | EMSCalls |Average Calls/Day

La Crosse FD 6,837 4,837 18.7
Onalaska FD 1,553 1,197 4.3
Holmen FD 1,057 779 2.9
Shelby FD 330 237 0.9
La Crescent FD 400 375 1.1
Farmington EMT o7 o7 0.3
Brice Prairie EMT 97 70 0.3
Tri-State 9,116 9,116 25.0

Note: The data for Onalaska are from 2018. Also, the Tri-State calls are those originating through 911 in the study area.

As would be expected, La Crosse has the largest total call volume among the fire and EMS
departments and accounts for about two thirds of public sector first responder calls in the study
area. Tri-State responds to an average of 25 calls per day; its total “double counts” calls shown for
the public sector agencies, as Tri-State responds to every EMS call in conjunction with municipal
providers and is the only provider of ambulance transport.

Consideration of the number of calls per day helps explain the range of different staffing models
across jurisdictions. In areas with less than one call per day, there would not be a financial
justification for having two EMTs or fire crews available 24 hours per day, which means that a POC
model may be reasonable and appropriate. Similarly, while city or suburban residents may expect an
ambulance to arrive within five or six minutes, residents of rural areas residents may recognize that
calls are infrequent and may find lengthier response times from a POC framework more acceptable.

But as call volumes increase, relying on POC response may result in staff burnout, response to pages
may wane, and staff turnover may increase. As an interim measure, a fire department or EMS agency
may consider staffing regular shifts using POP employees. Some municipalities with a low but
growing call volume also have found ways to combine EMS response with other jobs such as police
officers (village of Palmyra) or public works employees (village of Bristol).

14  SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




Table 13 shows that calls for service in the study area increased by about 15% from 2016-2019.
There are several possible reasons for the increase, including population growth in the northern part
of the study area. In La Crescent, a more important factor is likely the aging population. Fire chiefs
also noted that there is more of a tendency among all population groups to call 911 for minor
injuries and to use hospital emergency rooms for basic health care.

Table 13: Calls for service trends, 2016 to 2019

Holmen FD 1,057 28.1%
Onalaska FD 1,458 1,596 9.5%
La Crosse FD 6,009 6,837 13.8%
Shelby FD 305 330 8.2%
La Crescent FD 310 400 29.0%
Farmington EMS 75 97 29.3%
Brice Prairie EMS 60 71 18.3%
Tri-State EMS 8,520 9,810 15.1%

Notes: Onalaska FD data is for 2015 through 2018. Also, the town of Medary switched to contracting with La Crosse from
Onalaska/Shelby in 2018, reducing calls for those departments and increasing total calls for La Crosse.

Table 14 shows some differences between departments in terms of per capita calls. Given that
persons over age 65 tend to have the highest utilization of EMS, it is not surprising that La Crescent
and Onalaska, both with more than 18% of their population over that age, have higher call rates. La
Crosse, however, has a relatively low percentage of older residents and by far the highest rate of
calls for service. One explanation may be the city’s concentration of senior living facilities, which can
generate a very high number of calls. La Crosse also has higher residential density and a variety of
income levels, both of which are correlated with higher fire and EMS utilization. Finally, because La
Crosse is an employment center, it has a higher daytime population than surrounding areas.

Table 14: EMS calls for service per 1,000 population*

Holmen FD 39.6
Onalaska FD 68.1
La Crosse FD 94.6
Shelby FD 35.6
La Crescent FD 53.8
Farmington EMS 36.9
Brice Prairie EMS 35.5
Tri-State EMS 84.8

* Per capita calculations for this and future tables use estimated service area populations for each department and do not
necessarily reflect municipal populations.

15 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




The calls for service per 1,000 population figures for Tri-State are an average across the entire study
area. Tri-State rates by municipality show a similar variation to that of first responders, particularly a
higher rate of calls for service in La Crosse in comparison with outlying areas.

Finally, it is important to note that the difference in the rate of calls for service may be partially
related to the way in which the data were reported. Some departments, for example, may have
included cancelled calls or false alarms, while others did not.

How the departments respond

Outside of the city of La Crosse, a typical EMS response in La Crosse County is two-tiered. Calls for
EMS are received by the county dispatch center, which dispatches first responders and then
transfers the call to Tri-State. Tri-State triages the call and dispatches an ambulance. When
appropriate, Tri-State dispatchers may also offer emergency medical dispatch (EMD), with trained
dispatchers providing medical instructions to the caller at the scene. More specifically:

e First responders, generally at the EMR level, arrive at the scene to provide basic life support
such as controlling bleeding, CPR, assisting someone who has fallen, etc.

e First responders are followed by the arrival of an advanced life support (ALS) ambulance
from Tri-State, which is generally staffed with a combination of EMTs and paramedics, but at
least one paramedic. Tri-State personnel can then take over patient care and if necessary
they can provide higher-level ALS services.

e Once a patient is stabilized, first responders are released back to their station. Tri-State
estimates that the average time on an EMS call for first responders is 30 minutes. Tri-State
then transports the patient to the hospital, if necessary. Depending on the location of the
incident, transport can mean that a Tri-State ambulance is unavailable for up to 90 minutes.

There are several advantages of the two-tiered EMS system. One is that fire department personnel
and apparatus are not required to transport patients, allowing for lower staffing levels. Another is
that the level of EMS care is standardized across most of the region and Tri-State coordinates
training and medical direction for first responders.” Finally, the contract with Tri-State relieves first
responders from the need to provide paramedic-level services, which would require an investment
both on the part of employees to obtain that level of training and departments in terms of increased
wages and training costs for paramedic-level employees.

Arguably, a disadvantage of the two-tiered system is that it potentially uses more resources since two
agencies and four individuals (two from the municipal first responder and two from Tri-State)
respond to EMS calls. For career fire departments that provide paramedic-level services, an EMS
response generally involve both an engine and an ambulance; however, depending on the type and
severity of the injury, the response may involve only two people and one vehicle. It is also worth
noting that under the current model, reimbursement revenue for transports from Medicaid,

7 Tri-State coordinates continuing education training, but not training to receive the initial license.

16 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




Medicare, or private insurance goes entirely to Tri-State (though it still does not fully offset the cost of
those calls), which leaves the departments with no revenue offset for first response services.

The two-tiered system also has created some specific challenges for the career department in La
Crosse, which found it was losing employees to career departments in other counties that offered
opportunities to develop and maintain skills as paramedics. As a result, Tri-State and the La Crosse
FD have collaborated on a joint response model.

Thirteen paramedics who are employed by La Crosse FD also work voluntarily for Tri-State for 24
hours/month. They receive training through Tri-State and are certified by the same medical director.
Because training and protocols are shared, if a La Crosse paramedic arrives first at the scene, he or
she can begin paramedic-level response. When Tri-State arrives, patient care is seamlessly
transferred from the La Crosse paramedic to Tri-State paramedics. This collaboration has benefitted
the La Crosse FD because it supports a paramedic program for the department’s career firefighters,
while Tri-State benefits because La Crosse FD paramedics working part-time for Tri-State support its
staffing needs.

It is worth noting that only a minority of EMS calls require ALS interventions. Consequently, one
disadvantage of having too many paramedics in an area is that it decreases the number of calls that
each paramedic handles each year, which diminishes opportunities for paramedics to maintain their
skills. Tri-State management also notes that while ALS response is crucial to a small number of
cases, the vast majority of patients are better served with appropriate BLS interventions within the
first five minutes of an incident.

Fire response requires a much larger contingent of personnel than EMS response. For a typical
house fire, a minimum response according to national standards is 16 firefighters and at least one
ambulance. The La Crosse FD is the only department in the study area that can mount an immediate
fire response with on-duty crews. For the other departments, a complete fire response will not begin
until POC staff and/or firefighters from neighboring municipalities are on the scene. Smaller fires,
such as car fires or dumpster fires, may be handled with a single engine and a lower number of staff.

Response times

Response times are an important measure of level of service. In terms of EMS, the National Fire
Protection Association (NFPA) identifies a first response standard of five minutes or less for BLS calls
(from dispatch to arrival on the scene) for 90% of responses for career departments. The standard
for ALS calls is nine minutes. For departments relying on part-time staff or in rural areas, lengthier
average response times are expected. In the minority of cases where an ALS response is required,
such as for strokes or cardiac events, receiving ALS services in a timely manner may truly be the
difference between life and death. In terms of fires, a quicker response time means an enhanced
ability to protect life and property.

Response times have two main components:

e Turnout time, or the time it takes to get into a truck ready to leave the station in full gear (for
fire response). For POC departments, report time to the station must also be factored into
turnout time.

17 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




e Travel time, or the time to get from the station to the incident. Travel time is a function of the
geographic size of the overall service area and station locations.

Other components of response times are the dispatch call processing time and, in the case of major
fires, the total effective response force arrival (i.e. the time it takes for the full cadre of firefighters
required to respond to house or major structure fires to arrive on the scene).

Departments that have firefighting and first response staff working out of stations on shifts obviously
are able to respond more quickly than departments that must call in part-time staff to respond. Table
15 shows typical shift staffing (i.e. the number of non-command firefighters typically on duty at the
station at any point in time) at the stations managed by La Crosse FD, Onalaska FD, and Holmen
Area FD, which are the only stations that maintain regular shifts. Table 16 shows average total
response times for first responders as reported by the departments and agencies, which include
both turnout time and travel time. 8

Table 15: Shift staffing by station

Shifts/Typical No. of

EMS Level Individuals on Duty

La Crosse FD 1 Paramedic 10
La Crosse FD 2 Paramedic 6
La Crosse FD 3 Paramedic 5
La Crosse FD 4 Paramedic 4
Onalaska EMT 4
Holmen Area* EMR 1
Shelby EMR

La Crescent EMR

Brice Prairie EMR

Farmington EMR

Tri-State - EMS paramedic Patrol near areas of high demand 10

*The Holmen Area FD has two individuals at its station each day working 12-hour shifts (from 6 AM to 6 PM), so that adds
up to one total shift. At night there are no staff working shifts.

8 For further context, the Wisconsin Department of Health Services produced a report showing total and average response
times for EMS agencies across the state in 2015. That report indicates that the average EMS response time across all
agencies for 2016 (measured as the time from dispatch to arrival on the scene) was 8 minutes and 6 seconds. Also, in
2017, the American Medical Association compiled EMS response times for 485 agencies across the U.S. (totaling 1.8
million 911 transport calls). It found that suburban areas with populations of 2,500 to 50,000 average 7.7 minutes from
dispatch to arrival on scene. Rural areas with populations of less than 2,500 average 14.5 minutes.

18  SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Table 16: First responder average response times for first unit on scene

_ EMS Response Time Fire Response Time

Holmen FD 10:27 10:27
Onalaska FD? 5:52 7:40
La Crosse FD 4:08 4:13
Shelby FD 10:34 10:34
La Crescent FD 8:00 10:00
Farmington EMS 8.14 NA

Brice Prairie EMS 8.58 NA

La Crosse FD’s average response times of under 4:15 reflect both the number of staff working on
shifts at any given time and the number of fire stations in the city. As described above, before
engaging with a significant fire such as a structure fire, a department needs to have a minimum of
14 to 16 firefighters at the scene. La Crosse FD is the only department that is able not only to
respond to an incident, which marks the arrival of the first piece of apparatus, but also to mount an
effective response force on its own and within a quick time frame.

The Holmen Area FD’s higher average response times when compared to Onalaska are a function, in
part, of its very large service area and its limited shift staffing. To reduce response times
significantly, it is likely that the department would need to construct a second station and increase
staffing significantly.

Because Shelby, La Crescent, Farmington EMS, and Brice Prairie EMS use primarily POC or volunteer
staff, their 8- to 10-minute total average response times are considered good. Shelby’s average
response times would not be possible without two stations given the size of its response area.

Tri-State staff generally are not waiting in a station but are deployed in ambulances throughout the
service area, so its response times involve only travel time. As shown in Table 17, Tri-State’s average
response times in 2019 ranged from about six minutes in Zone 1 to more than 15 minutes in Zone
4. Zone 1 is comprised of the city of La Crosse; Zone 2 includes the city of Onalaska, town of Shelby,
and town of Campbell; Zone 3 includes the villages of Holmen and West Salem and the towns of
Medary and Onalaska; and Zone 4 includes all other municipalities.

9 Onalaska’s average response times reflect calls in which there was not a delay for turnout (i.e. a crew was at the station
and ready to respond).

19  SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Table 17: 2019 Tri-State average response times in La Crosse County

Average Response Time

Zone 1 6:02
Zone 2 7:32
Zone 3 9:51
Zone 4 15:37

Source: Tri-State Ambulance

Comparison of response times in these zones suggests that first responders typically (but not
always) arrive first at the scene and begin BLS services to stabilize a patient. In Zones 3 and 4 in
particular, with an average Tri-State response of nearly 10 to more than 15 minutes, first responders
have a greater responsibility for patient survival. However, in the case of a serious incident, such as
a multiple-injury car accident, Tri-State would be able to send a paramedic intercept or even a
helicopter transport.

ISO Ratings

ISO ratings are a widely referenced indicator of fire department service capacity and quality. ISO is
the Insurance Services Office, an organization that provides information about property/casualty
insurance risk to the insurance industry. The rating system used by the ISO includes items like
staffing, equipment/apparatus, geographic distribution of resources, training, and water supply.

ISO ratings are based on a scale of one to 10, with a rating of one indicating superior service
capacity, and a rating of 10 indicating failure to meet ISO’s minimum criteria. The La Crosse FD’s
most recent ISO rating is two, Onalaska’s is three, and the Holmen Area, Shelby, and La Crescent
departments have ratings of four. For purposes of comparison, we recently found that only 21% of
fire departments in the state have been awarded an ISO rating of four or better.

Mutual aid

While each department typically is able to handle the workload of an average day, multiple calls at
one time or a single major incident may require more resources than a single department can
muster, which requires them to rely on neighboring departments for “mutual aid” assistance. Mutual
aid allows for efficient deployment of resources because departments can staff to their average
workload instead of needing to staff for catastrophic incidents or peak workloads.

Mutual aid can take many forms. Wisconsin has a formalized system of mutual aid used by fire
departments statewide called the Mutual Aid Box Alarm System (MABAS). Under this system, there
are formal structures in place that govern the dispatch of neighboring departments depending on the
type of incident. While MABAS generally is used to respond to major incidents, departments also
make frequent use of other mutual aid on a less formal basis, including having neighboring
departments stand by for assistance if a second call comes in when their resources are being
utilized for an initial call. Some neighboring departments also have “automatic aid” agreements
under which both are simultaneously dispatched to respond to certain calls in either jurisdiction.

20 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Mutual aid is important to all departments regardless of their size. However, in an area with a large
disparity in resources, a system of mutual aid can tap larger career departments more than smaller
departments with part-time staffing models, raising concerns about equity and funding,

Discussions with the fire chiefs suggest that use of mutual aid in La Crosse County is not as
extensive as we have observed in other regions. One reason may be that the smaller departments
seem to prize their independence and their ability to manage calls within their service areas. As the
largest department with the most available resources at any given time of day, the La Crosse FD
does provide some mutual aid support to the Onalaska, Shelby, and Holmen area departments. Even
s0, La Crosse reported that mutual aid accounted for only 15 calls in 2019, which is negligible in
comparison with its 6,837 total calls that year.

Holmen Area FD, with the lowest number of FTEs relative to call volume, is a more frequent user of
mutual aid and the MABAS system. Given that the department only staffs with two persons per shift,
when the crew is called out the station is not manned. In such situations, the chief first calls for POC
staff to backfill the station, but the availability of POC staff for daytime response can be variable.
Consequently, in some cases, the Holmen Area FD does rely on mutual aid to cover the station.

Equipment and budgets

Each of the agencies is well supplied with apparatus, as shown in Table 18. Several chiefs noted that
between all of the departments there is an oversupply of ladder trucks and it is clear that each
department has more apparatus than can be staffed at any one time. However, chiefs did make the
case that when staffing is limited, having the right piece of apparatus can affect the success of the
response.

Table 18: Station apparatus

| lriroEngine [orush [Tender Quiny/Ladder
2 1 1 1 1 1

Holmen 7
Onalaska 3 1 1 1 2 1 9
La Crosse 4 1 1 0] 2
La Crosse 2 1 1 1 1 1 5
La Crosse 1 2 1 1 3 7
La Crosse 3 1 1 0 2
Shelby/GR 1 2 1 1 4
Shelby/GR 2 1 1 2
La Crescent 3 1 1 1 6

21  SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Department budgets

There is a wide divergence among the five fire departments with regard to annual operating
expenditures, as shown in Table 19. La Crosse spends nearly $10.5 million annually to support its
large full-time department, while the small, part-time departments in Shelby and La Crescent spend
only a fraction of that amount. The table also reveals the substantial growth in costs experienced by
the Holmen area and Onalaska departments over the past four years as call volumes have increased
and service models have been adjusted in response to that growth.

Table 19: Operating expenditures per department, 2016-2020

i
La Crosse FD $10,033,886 $10,516,532 3.8%
Personnel $9,541,108 $10,030,961 4.1%
Non-personnel $492,778 $485,571 -1.5%
Holmen Area FD $447,364 $753,350 68.4%
Personnel $358,444 $639,100 78.3%
Non-personnel $88,921 $114,250 28.5%
Onalaska FD $1,257,917 $1,709,446 35.9%
Personnel $1,172,015 $1,615,166 37.8%
Non-personnel $85,902 $94,280 9.8%
Shelby FD $168,925 $169,500 0.3%
Personnel $128,179 $114,200 -10.9%
Non-personnel $40,746 $55,300 35.7%
La Crescent FD $232,927 $250,060 7.36%
Personnel $80,509 $94,860 17.83%
Non-personnel $152,418 $155,200 1.83%

Several chiefs described the three larger La Crosse County departments as being on a continuum.
They commented that the Holmen area department is where Onalaska found itself several years ago
in terms of its need for increased resources to maintain acceptable service levels. Onalaska,
meanwhile, has already met that initial need but is now looking to respond to growing demand by
gradually increasing shifts and moving closer to the career staffing model used in La Crosse.

The expenditure trends shown in the table seem to bear out that description. While the Holmen Area
FD still maintains a lower budget than Onalaska and La Crosse, it has seen expenditure growth of
68% since 2016. Of that total, $100,000 of the increase relates to benefits, reflecting a transition
from POP or POC employees to more regular full-time staffing. Onalaska’s large increase in personnel
expenditures also is related to greater use of career staff.

Chart 1 provides additional perspective by showing 2020 budgeted operating costs for the five fire
departments on a per capita basis. While not shown in the figure, Tri-State’s cost per capita is
$35.53, although that cost is entirely funded with ambulance revenues and does not require support
from the property tax levy.

22 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Chart 1: 2020 per capita expenditures by department

$195.76
$90.03
$46.38 $38.33
- - -
La Crosse Onalaska La Crescent Holmen Area Shelby

Table 20 shows capital expenditures for the five departments from 2016-2020. Capital budgets
include major station repairs or replacement (but not minor maintenance), as well as major
vehicle/equipment purchases. Capital costs often are financed with general obligation bonds or
other forms of borrowing.

Unlike operating costs, capital expenditures vary considerably from year to year depending on
whether vehicle purchases or major station-related projects are planned for that year. One way to
“smooth out” variations in capital spending is to look at actual total capital spending over the four
years. That analysis shows that capital expenditures represent a significant expense. In fact, on a per
capita basis, capital expenses are larger than operating expenses for the Holmen area and Shelby
departments. This comparison shows that fire apparatus is an expensive and fixed cost no matter
the size of a fire district. In departments with smaller service populations, per capita capital
investments in fire apparatus and equipment can be significant.

Table 20: Capital expenditures per department, 2016-2020

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2016-2019 Total
. Actual Actual Actual Actual/ Budget Total Per
ALzl 50 Projected Capita

La Crosse FD10 $327,837 $1,897,944 $614,016 $1,007,419 $4,634,995  $3,847,220 $71.61
Holmen Area FD $57,901 $153,933 $1,043,661 $102,613 $149,538 $1,358,108 $68.09

Onalaska FD $26,967 $605,505 $52,757 $124,619 $1,257,385 $809,848 $42.65
Shelby FD $0 $0 $0 $635,897 $14,777 $635,897 $92.40
Summary

Our data collection and interviews with chiefs and other key informants reveal that the agencies in
this study vary widely in terms of their service models, staffing, and operating budgets. There also

10 Capital costs for the La Crosse FD in 2019 and 2020 reflect funding for a new fire station in the southern part of the city.

23  SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 nil




are clear differences in demand for both fire and EMS service between the urban and urbanizing
areas and more rural parts of the region. La Crosse is clearly the “big brother” of the region, both in
terms of calls for service and overall resources.

Despite these differences in service models and service expansion needs, we have identified a
handful of key issues that affect each of the study participants and that may benefit from collective
planning and coordination as departments seek to resolve them:

24

The Holmen Area FD is in a period of transition because of growing call volumes and
development, which has required increases in spending and staffing that will need to
continue or even escalate. Despite the large increase in operating expenditures since 2016,
this department has the lowest staffing relative to calls for service and covers a large
geographic area. How the Holmen Area FD responds to this challenge could impact other
departments, either positively by providing opportunities for greater mutual aid support; or
negatively by requiring the department to seek greater mutual aid from its neighbors.

We observe lower levels of mutual aid than we have seen in other regions, and our
stakeholder interviews suggest this may be partly due to longstanding political
disagreements, which limit requests for assistance or may cause departments to request aid
from a department that is not the closest or best able to provide it. La Crosse, with 25 shifts
around the clock, is in the best position to provide mutual aid to surrounding departments
when called upon, but growth in the region is projected to occur relatively far from that
department in the north. Still, enhancements to the mutual aid framework used by the
departments - and potential extension to concepts like “closest unit response” or automatic
aid - could address some service challenges and benefit the entire county.

The two-tiered response used for EMS by the municipal departments and independent EMS
agencies in conjunction with Tri-State appears to work well, though there may be an overuse
of EMS resources in La Crosse. In addition, response times in Zones 3 and 4 for Tri-State are
lengthy, which puts added pressure on first responders.

The smaller departments and EMS agencies appear to be functioning well and managing
calls within their service areas. Shelby and La Crescent have healthy rosters of POC
employees, but we also heard that recruitment is growing more difficult for all departments.
This problem is common to many fire departments throughout the state as younger
generations react to changing economic conditions, family pressures, etc. Whatever its
cause, recruiting POC staff may become more difficult at the same time that call volumes are
increasing.

While several departments face operating budget challenges, there appears to be an
overabundance of apparatus for the region as a whole. This suggests possible opportunities
for shared services on the capital side that may free up resources on the operating side. We
have also noted that the investment in apparatus in some of the smaller departments is
quite large on a per capita basis, mainly because the cost of required apparatus is spread
over a much smaller service population.

SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




e Each of the three large departments in the western part of the county has cited the potential
need for a new station or stations to meet increasing service demands and Shelby has cited
the need for significant repairs or replacement of its western station. This suggests an
opportunity to join forces to plan for new station development and possible sharing and joint
staffing of stations after they are built.

In the following sections of this report, we will discuss possible opportunities for the participating
agencies and departments to collaborate to address the challenges noted above. The fire and EMS
providers covered by this study have some specific advantages that suggest considerable potential
to use enhanced service sharing as a strategy to address these challenges collectively and improve
service levels throughout the region, including the following:

e All of the agencies are dispatched by La Crosse County. Consolidated dispatch is a
prerequisite for significant service sharing or even implementing a “closest unit response”
framework under which the closest engine or ambulance will respond to a call regardless of
geographic boundaries. Also, as noted above, Tri-State performs “emergency medical
dispatch” services throughout the county, which means that 911 calls involving medical
emergencies can be transferred to a medical professional who provides medical instructions
to a patient or others on the scene before the first responder arrives.

e Department leaders understand the benefits that could be gained through greater
coordination and are committed to moving past historical impediments to service sharing.
Certain service sharing arrangements are already in place and could be built upon, including
the La Crosse FD’s contractual arrangement to provide vehicle maintenance services to the
Holmen Area FD and regular meetings of training officers from the various departments.

e The municipal departments’ joint contract with Tri-State allows for paramedic response to all
areas of the county and unified medical direction and training opportunities. While there are
differences in response between the city of La Crosse and outlying areas, Tri-State has
brought consistency to EMS and is a cornerstone of coordination that is already in place.

In terms of challenges to further service sharing, one that stands out immediately is the wide
variation between departments in terms of staffing models and funding. Some of these differences
stem from variations between urban, urbanizing, and rural areas. Service sharing initiatives, such as
joint training or sharing of apparatus, require a degree of standardization which may not provide
equal benefits to all departments.

Variations in per capita operating expenditures also present an obstacle to service sharing. La
Crosse taxpayers fund a higher level of service in their city and should not be expected to subsidize
improved response in other jurisdictions or vastly enhanced levels of mutual aid; at the same time,
other jurisdictions may be largely satisfied with their service levels and may not wish to pay more to
achieve a level of service that more closely approximates that of La Crosse.

Finally, we would be remiss not to mention the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on fire and EMS
services. The effects noted so far have been a temporary reduction in EMS calls along with the need
for greater attention to infection prevention. Longer-term effects are unknown at this time but should
be considered as part of any future service sharing and planning discussions.

25 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




OPTIONS FOR CHANGE

As discussed in the preceding pages, while there are no glaring red flags with regard to the current
level and quality of fire and EMS services provided to residents in the La Crosse County region,
several challenges have emerged. In particular, a common challenge for each of the participants is
the need to manage ongoing budgetary pressures while, at the same time, determining ways to
address growing call volumes and continued new development.

This section considers both service sharing and consolidation options that may allow the study
participants to grapple with their challenges in a manner that would be less expensive and more
effective than if they attempted to do so individually. None of these options are mutually exclusive,
and they could be pursued progressively over time from smaller-scale initiatives which could create a
stronger basis for collaboration to more in-depth service sharing initiatives over the longer term.

The first tier of service coordination, and the easiest to implement, involves support functions that
are common to all fire/EMS agencies, such as training, recruitment, and fire prevention. An example
of functional service sharing that is already occurring is a contractual agreement under which the La
Crosse FD handles vehicle maintenance for the Holmen Area and La Crescent departments.

A more ambitious level of cooperation involves options relating to collaborative fire or EMS response.
Those options can range from formalizing arrangements for mutual aid to more advanced forms of
cooperative response that could include automatic aid agreements or a “closest unit response”
framework.

Finally, a third tier of options relates to sharing stations or staff or contracting or consolidation
between two or more departments. While we do not detect strong interest by some of the
participating agencies in consolidation options at this time, we felt it was important to include them
given the growing challenges in the region and the possibility that local officials might be more open
to them in the future.

Tier 1: Enhanced Functional Service Sharing

There are several options to improve existing service sharing arrangements between departments
and to forge additional collaboration around specific support functions that are common to each.
Typical support functions that could be shared include training, recruitment and retention, and EMS
case management, among others.

Joint Training

While training is a requirement for any job, for fire and EMS professionals it can be a matter of life
and death for both the providers themselves and the public. Training is an ongoing and essential
function for all departments, and joint training between departments is important preparation for the
major incidents that require multiple agencies to work together on the scene.

26 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




In La Crosse County, training Tier 1: Enhanced Functional Service Sharing Options
officers already meet

regularly and some joint

training does occur. However, La Crosse coordinates training for region
Joint Training 2. Tri-State enhances & coordinates EMS training
common obstacles are the o o
difficulty involved with 3. Create joint training bureau
u y . . Joint Recruitment = Departments with part-time staff recruit jointly &
scheduling training sessions

& Retention standardize pay and advancement opportunities.
for part-time staff, many of EMS Case Departments jointly pay for EMS case managers to
whom have jobs during the Management proactively serve frequent 911 callers.
day and family matters to Build on La Crosse-Holmen Area vehicle
attend to at night; and the Other maintenance arrangement and explore applying to
need to pay for staff to prevention, inspections, investigations.

backfill stations when those

scheduled for regular shifts must take time away for training. Another obstacle noted by the Holmen
Area chief is that the travel time between Holmen and La Crosse’s training facility is 35 to 45
minutes. A joint training solution may need to include a more centrally located facility, or possibly the
addition of a northern La Crosse training facility.

Some possibilities for collaboratively addressing these common challenges include:

¢ La Crosse takes the training lead. La Crosse already owns a training facility (which is shared for
some training) and it has established a strong training program which could be extended to all
departments in the region. This approach would allow all departments to access La Crosse’s
training facility (instead of having to travel to Sparta for some training) and it would relieve
smaller departments from having to dedicate staff to training administration. Some financial
participation by those departments likely would be appropriate to help maintain the training
facility and pay for extra training staff hours in La Crosse, but all departments would benefit from
having staff dedicated solely to training, as well as an assurance that all personnel across the
region are trained to the same standards and protocols. While different training needs and
scheduling obstacles among the different departments may still pose barriers to this approach, it
is certainly possible that training staff housed in the La Crosse FD could design programming
and scheduling that would meet the needs of both La Crosse and the smaller departments.

o Tri- State provides enhanced EMS training. Gundersen Health System, in conjunction with its
subsidiary, Tri-State Ambulance, already plays a large role in training personnel across the region
for EMS first response and in many respects already provides county-wide coordinated training in
this area. That role could possibly be expanded even more to include cross-credentialing of
AEMTs and paramedics in Zones 2 through 4 similar to the practice currently used in La Crosse.
This would create a larger pool of responders who might be able to respond to a scene more
quickly than Tri-State and improve ALS response times in those communities.

¢ Regional training bureau The most comprehensive option for joint training would be the creation
of a regional training bureau that would operate similarly to the La Crosse option outlined above
but with independent staff and a regional training facility that would be governed by all of the
departments jointly. This may be more politically palatable to the other departments than having

27 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




the La Crosse FD administer training, and it may also benefit La Crosse by allowing it to dedicate
its training staff to other needs. It is possible that Western Technical College could be contracted
to house and coordinate such a bureau and training facility. This approach likely would require a
significant annual investment, which could be shared proportionally by the participating
departments based on factors like population, property values, and calls for service. Once the
cost was determined, each jurisdiction would need to decide for itself whether it would be
justified by the potential benefits.

Joint Recruitment and Retention Strategies

All of the departments cited recruitment and retention of qualified staff as an ongoing challenge.
Smaller departments are especially challenged, as it was noted that recruits may start their career in
such departments but then leave for larger departments with more opportunities for advancement
and better training. POC employees may also pursue additional EMS licenses and look to larger
departments that offer them a greater opportunity to use their skills.

The departments that rely on POC staff could establish joint human resources strategies that would
involve standardizing POC pay rates and joint recruiting for part-time staff, who could be assigned
POP shifts based on departmental vacancies and needs. The participating departments also could
consider jointly paying for recruitment incentives like subsidizing the cost of training required for
advanced EMS licenses. Any implementation of joint recruitment would require all departments to
agree on minimum employment standards, such as physical fitness exams, training requirements,
and certification and licensing standards.

On the retention front, many chiefs noted that the people most likely to stay are those who already
have roots in the community. A retention program that identifies more options for advancement
between departments may help keep employees in the region, although it could facilitate transfers
between departments.

EMS case management

EMS providers across the country are increasingly using EMS staff to proactively serve heavy users
of 911 services and hospital ERs. Also known as “community paramedicine,” this approach involves
using paramedics to perform a range of services outside of emergency care, such as:

e providing or connecting patients to primary care services

e completing post-hospital follow-up care

e providing health education programs

e helping patients integrate with local health care systems and providers

The city of Greenfield in Milwaukee County is an example of a combined fire/EMS department that
has hired a case management officer to conduct such follow-up to reduce service calls among heavy
users, as well as to conduct educational activities aimed at promoting health and safety and
discouraging 911 calls for non-emergency medical issues. An EMS case manager or case managers
also could work more closely with senior facilities to reduce usage by those facilities.

28 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




One or more departments may wish to consider jointly funding one or more case management
positions to cover multiple jurisdictions on a regional or countywide level. Similar to the training
officer, case management staff could be housed in one of the participating agencies with the cost
shared by all.11

Other Functional Service Sharing

Vehicle maintenance, fire prevention and education, fire inspections, and investigations also are
functions that could be unified and provided regionally. This could occur either by housing the
service in one of the existing departments and having others chip in for the cost, or grouping all of
these functions together into a jointly funded freestanding administrative bureau (which also could
handle training and recruitment).

Similar to training and recruitment, the calculus for each department would be whether paying
another department or a jointly-funded entity to perform the function would produce a higher level of
service than the department could realistically effectuate itself. If so, then key questions are whether
outsourcing the service would actually reduce costs by freeing up internal resources or allowing for
the elimination of positions. In most smaller departments, fire prevention and inspection are jobs
taken on by shift staff who also respond to calls, so removing those duties would not equate to a
reduction in staffing costs.

An example of the potential benefit of service sharing for support functions is a vehicle maintenance
arrangement that the Holmen Area FD has entered into with the La Crosse FD. La Crosse had excess
capacity that it could devote to Holmen Area FD vehicles and it now performs maintenance on those
vehicles and bills the Holmen Area FD for its service (a similar agreement exists for La Crescent).
This produces a small revenue stream that the La Crosse FD can use to offset other costs. In the
meantime, the Holmen Area FD is able to avoid hiring vehicle maintenance staff or using existing
staff who would have to be pulled away from other duties or who may not have the expertise of the
La Crosse mechanics.

Tier 2: Enhanced Coordination of Operations

Collaboration with regard to support functions may improve the ability of individual departments to
meet common challenges, gain efficiency, and work more cohesively when engaged in a joint
response. However, if the goal is to improve service quality and response times, then a higher level
of service sharing options involving operational coordination should be considered.

Operational coordination options address how departments respond to a call and operate at a
scene. While they do offer potential benefits in terms of response, these options also may entail
extra financial cost and involve an investment of time in planning and preparation.

11 Some EMS case management already exists in the region via Gundersen Health System’s use of two
hospital-based community paramedics to perform follow-up with high utilizers.

29  SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Improved Mutual Aid Tier 2: Enhanced Coordination of Operations Options

As noted in the previous Formalize mutual aid agreements and practices to

section, mutual aid in the Improved Mutual = enhance cohesion and effectiveness; consider

study region does not Aid automatic aid, change of quarters, closest unit
response as part of such agreements.

function as cohesively as it

does n ctnr rogons v rave OV TY - DT v e ort o
v i- i ve fi i
examined. While the MABAS P 0 ImP P
EMS Response response in Zones 2,3,4.

framework works well for

large structure fires or other Share Apparatus
major incidents, there could

be improvements in the use of mutual aid for minor incidents or during times of heavy call volumes.

Develop service sharing agreements to share ladder
trucks, tenders/tankers, back-up equipment.

The most notable issue that was conveyed to us anecdotally is that calls for mutual aid do not always
involve the nearest and most appropriate department. For example, while the La Crosse FD has the
capacity to play a larger role in providing mutual aid to smaller departments, we were told by several
of our interviewees that La Crosse often is not asked to assist. Some cited longstanding political
tension between the city and its suburbs as the cause, while others cited concern among smaller
departments that if dispatched to a scene in their community simultaneously, La Crosse would arrive
first despite the longer travel time because it does not have to call in POC staff to respond.

All of the chiefs agreed that this is far from an ideal circumstance and that further discussion and
agreement on more formal and/or enhanced mutual aid practices and procedures would benefit the
region. Such formalization and enhancement could take many forms, including the following;:

e Automatic aid, where two or more departments are dispatched automatically for a structure
fire or major incident.

e Change of quarters, in which an adjacent department covers empty stations when crews are
responding to a call.

e Closest unit response, in which the closest and most appropriate unit is dispatched to an
incident without regard to service area boundaries.

e Paramedic directive, which designates the highest level of EMS responder, whether an AEMT
or paramedic, to lead at the scene, regardless of service area boundaries.

It is important to note that most of these options would require investment in upgraded dispatch
equipment and technology at the La Crosse County Public Safety Communications Center. For
example, the communications center does not currently possess the computer-aided dispatch (CAD)
technology to track the activities of each department and determine when one is sufficiently busy to
trigger an automatic call for back-up. The county already is in the midst of pursuing dispatch
technology improvements but this process may need to be expedited and enhanced if some of the
more advanced forms of operational collaboration are pursued. County leaders may also wish to
collaborate with Tri-State on such improvements, as Tri-State already possesses its own dispatching
capacity that allows it to utilize a closest unit response framework.

30 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 nil




Questions also could arise regarding reimbursement under certain forms of enhanced mutual aid
and response. As noted above, the La Crosse FD could play a more prominent role in backing up
smaller departments or may be able to respond to incidents in other jurisdictions more quickly given
its full-time status, but it also pays far more per capita for that level of service than each of the
surrounding communities. Consequently, any agreement in which La Crosse would play a much
bigger role in mutual aid may need to consider some type of cost sharing. Shared costs might be
palatable if departments receiving enhanced mutual aid from La Crosse are thereby able to avoid
investments in extra capacity that they would otherwise have to make.

Identifying the resources to pay for dispatch improvements and reconciling cost sharing issues would
be challenges, but we have reported on formalized mutual aid arrangements in other parts of the
state. For example, in Jefferson County, a pending agreement between the city of Watertown and
villages of Lake Mills and Johnson Creek stipulates the following cooperative activities between the
three fire departments:

e The departments agree to jointly respond (when available) to any structure fires within their
collective service area.

e Inthe event that one department’s resources are temporarily depleted (either because
existing units are deployed or it is experiencing an equipment failure or other challenge),
that department can request a neighboring department to send apparatus and staff or to
otherwise be available to respond to a new incident.

e The departments agree “to work together to facilitate other forms of providing shared
services, including joint staffing, shared equipment, community risk analysis, creation of
standard operating procedures, and joint training, administration, fire prevention and
education.”

While the agreement has not yet been effectuated among the three fire departments, and while not
all of its provisions may be appropriate for the La Crosse area departments, it could serve as a model
for the study participants.

Improved EMS Response

Our data collection and interviews revealed a need to consider strategies to improve EMS first
response times in some parts of the region (including the northern part served by the Holmen Area
FD and the eastern part of Onalaska’s service area). Also, some chiefs expressed concerns about Tri-
State’s ability to respond soon enough to ALS calls in certain parts of the study area, particularly
during times of high call volumes. While enhanced mutual aid (as described above) could address
these issues to some extent, continued discussion regarding EMS response times is recommended.

Beefing up EMS first response times in the Holmen area and Onalaska likely would require additional
full-time staff at those departments and/or new stations. To help offset those increased costs, some
stakeholders suggested that consideration be given to allowing those fire departments to take over
some or all ambulance transports from Tri-State as a means of generating patient revenue, as there
are no revenue offsets for first response activities they currently conduct. That possibility had

31 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




previously been the subject of discussion between Tri-State and the La Crosse FD, but the two
parties instead agreed on the joint paramedic staffing arrangement that currently exists.

While ambulance transport revenue would provide some fiscal benefit to fire departments in the
region, the loss of that revenue could prompt Tri-State to discontinue operations there, which would
create the need for all of the departments (including Shelby and La Crescent) either to add
paramedic-level staff or contract with another department for ALS services. Also, neither the
Onalaska nor Holmen Area departments are currently licensed at the paramedic level, and upgrading
to ALS would involve additional costs besides simply adding personnel.

This is not to say that there should not be continued operational review with Tri-State aimed at
improving both first and paramedic-level responses. As noted earlier in this report, efforts to lower
response times in Zones 2, 3, and 4 appear warranted, and it may be fruitful for Tri-State and the
departments to consider ways that they could coordinate and perhaps jointly expand resources to
generate such improvement. It may also be beneficial for the Onalaska and Holmen Area
departments to discuss with Tri-State an agreement similar to the one it has with the La Crosse FD
involving cross-trained paramedics who work for both entities. This could potentially improve
paramedic-level first response in those jurisdictions and help the two departments with recruitment
and retention by providing career opportunities for interested personnel.

Shared Apparatus

As noted earlier in this report, the chiefs acknowledge that collectively, there are more vehicles in the
region than would be required if it were served by one consolidated department. Indeed, given that
most structure fires outside of the city of La Crosse require mutual aid because of the relatively low
staffing levels of the other departments, there should not be a need for each department to maintain
its own full complement of engines and trucks. However, as individual departments, each has
continued to purchase a wide range of vehicles so as not to be dependent on others. ISO ratings also
depend to some extent on the size and variety of fire equipment, and that may be another reason for
some duplication of vehicles within the county.

To address this situation, departments could enter into formal agreements to share specific vehicles
or to borrow back-up vehicles from one another when mechanical problems arise and a vehicle is out
of service. It is possible that a regional pool of back-up vehicles also could be created and jointly
funded so that individual departments would not have to maintain back-ups themselves.

32 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Tier 3: Advanced Options

The final set of options we present for Tier 3: Advanced Options

consideration would involve a higher level

of collaboration and sharing than the first Existing and potential new stations are shared by

two sets. Perhaps more consequential, Station Sharing one or more communities to reduce staffing
they may require a decision by one or and/or construction costs and encourage new
more municipalities to give up some or all contracting arrangements.

of their independence and contract with a Consolidation The heavily-resourced La Crosse FD would provide
larger neighboring department or join a fire and first response service under contract to
Through ) .
consolidated department. Contracting Shelby, Greenfield, and La Crescent, thus reducing
the number of departments from five to three.

We acknowledge that none of the study A single consolidated department would replace
participants expressed an immediate Consolidated the five departments, which would function under
desire to disband their individual Department the governance of a board of directors formed by

departments and join forces with others. the participating municipalities.

However, most agreed that such action may need to be contemplated within the next few years as
financial and staffing challenges intensify, and that it would be worthwhile to identify consolidation
options so that informed consideration might occur - if not now, then in the future.

Station Sharing

As noted in previous sections, several departments are considering new stations, including La
Crosse (which is considering two), Onalaska, and the Holmen Area FD. In addition, Shelby has cited a
need to replace its western station in the not-too-distant future.

While communities typically consider new stations to respond to increased call volumes created by
new development or other factors, they seldom consider an alternative option of tapping into a
neighboring community’s station as a slightly less effective but far less costly option for serving new
economic growth; or perhaps teaming up with a neighboring community to share the cost of building
and staffing a new station that could be constructed near their mutual border.

Consideration of station sharing also may be logical given that station locations within a region may
have made sense when the stations were first built, but development and population patterns may
have reduced that sensibility over time. That appears true in the La Crosse region, where there is
little question that if the current chiefs were to plot ideal station locations on a map for the region as
a whole, then they would not be located where they are today.

For example, Station 3 in southern La Crosse and Station 1 in western Shelby are spaced far more
closely together than would be appropriate if each municipality was not handling its own fire and
EMS operations. Stations at the regional airport and Campbell also are located in close proximity.
The desire of the current departments to maintain their independence dictates that that these close-
by stations will continue to exist, but station sharing may at least be worthy of consideration.

While station sharing is not common, it does exist in Racine County, where the South Shore and
Caledonia departments share a station staffed with 24-hour shifts of three firefighters apiece on the

33 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 nil




border of Mount Pleasant and Caledonia. A prime advantage is that each is able to maintain its
independence. However, as a result, each feels it necessary to maintain three shifts (for a total of
six) despite the fact that call volumes likely would justify only four.

Other options for station sharing also exist. For example, two departments could combine forces and
apparatus and respond to calls jointly from a shared station; or one of the departments can be
tapped to serve the entire radius covered by the station regardless of municipal boundaries.

We

believe there is considerable potential for station sharing in the La Crosse area that the

individual departments could pursue if each wishes to maintain its independence. Below we cite a
handful of possibilities.

34

New station in the Valley View area. Both La Crosse and Onalaska have cited the need for a new
station in the area near the Valley View Mall (shown in Map 2 on the following page) in light of
increased call volumes on each side of the municipal border. Tri-State often locates an
ambulance in that area and has also discussed a new station there. The town of Medary - which
currently contracts for fire and rescue service with the La Crosse FD - also could see improved
response times from such a station and West Salem could be approached about having some or
all of its service area covered by a new station in this area.

Under a scenario in which a new Valley View station is shared between the La Crosse and
Onalaska FDs, construction costs for the two departments could be split and they potentially
could share contractual payments from smaller communities. Depending on the staffing
arrangement and the possible inclusion of a Tri-State ambulance, a shared station also could
dramatically reduce personnel and apparatus costs (compared to the cost of two individual
stations) while improving both BLS and ALS response. It is also worth noting that difficulties often
associated with site selection and acquisition could be alleviated, as Onalaska has identified a
site in the vicinity for a new municipal facility that could possibility include a fire house as well as
space for law enforcement and public works.

New station to serve southern La Crosse and Shelby. La Crosse has already initiated planning for
a new Station 5 in the southern part of the city to improve response times in that area (also
shown in Map 2). At the same time, Shelby has cited the need for major repairs or replacement
of its western station, which is in close proximity to La Crosse’s Station 3. With a new Station 5,
La Crosse could absorb call volume for much of Shelby’s service area using both that station and
Station 3, potentially setting the stage for a contractual arrangement between Shelby and La
Crosse that would negate the need for replacement or rehabilitation of Shelby’s station.

Conversely, the two departments could jointly staff Stations 3 and/or 5 and cover calls in their
own jurisdictions, though that may not make sense given that Shelby would need to call in POC
staff to respond to incidents while La Crosse staff would already be at the stations and ready to
respond. A third option would be for Shelby to move forward with replacement or rehabilitation of
its western station and have that station be jointly staffed to serve the southern part of La
Crosse, thus eliminating the need either for Station 3 or a new Station 5.

SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Map 2: Existing and possible new stations in La Crosse region

@Earmington EMS
) L‘}j =

ﬂ Holmen FD

=

* Brice Prairie

x 1 W
\ Brygi . 5'1 West Salem
\ Onalaska

Valley View Mall ED

\ ! 1 LCFD Airport
\ POk """\J
N\ or) v
Camhbell FD! |
\ LCFD
\ £,
La Crescent \‘l
0[] l{ [
\,  LCFD2
\ [l P
erp 1f] &g U

\ [JcFD 3
W [

)
/ 0
/ E :—'

[,’ erp 5[] N\, )

e Station sharing between the Holmen Area FD and Tri-State. Tri State currently staffs an
ambulance station in the town of Onalaska that has room for a fire engine. The Holmen Area FD
could explore the possibility of housing an engine and potentially a three-person shift at that
station (with either full-time or POP staff or a combination). A joint staffing arrangement for

paramedics similar to the one that currently exists between La Crosse and Tri-State also could be
explored for that station.

¢ Sharing of La Crosse Regional Airport station. The small fire station located at the regional airport
currently houses one vehicle and a single firefighter/EMT. According to the La Crosse chief, with
some capital investment it could accommodate a two-person ambulance crew or a four-person
engine company in addition to the current position. While La Crosse does not currently have
sufficient call volume in the vicinity of the airport to justify taking that step on its own, such

35 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 nil




expansion could make sense if it also served parts of Onalaska and Campbell, as can be seen in
Map 2. Such an option could involve station sharing or an arrangement under which La Crosse
would staff the station and serve parts of Onalaska and Campbell on a contractual basis.

Consolidated Service Through Contracting

Building off the station sharing possibilities described above, one option for consolidated service in
the southern end of the study area would be for La Crosse to contract with Shelby, Greenfield, and La
Crescent to provide fire and first response EMS. While they chose not to participate in this study,
West Salem and Campbell also could logically be included in such an arrangement.

In terms of fire response, a contractual arrangement may be logical given that any structure fire
outside of the city of La Crosse already requires mutual aid in order to assemble the required staff to
fight the fire. In many cases, La Crosse FD engines are already responding to these larger fires.

In regard to EMS response, Table 21 shows that rough travel times between the nearest La Crosse
station and the adjacent municipalities of Shelby, La Crescent, and Campbell are reasonable. In fact,
it’s possible that the full-time La Crosse FD could respond as fast or faster than any of those
municipalities’ departments in light of their use of a POC model. Greenfield would likely be too
geographically distant for La Crosse to serve from its existing stations, however.

Table 21: Approximate travel times from La Crosse stations to neighboring jurisdictions

Travel scenario Approx. travel time

La Crosse Station 1 to La Crescent FD 8 minutes
La Crosse Station 2 to Campbell 7 minutes
La Crosse Station 3 to Shelby Town Hall 3 minutes
La Crosse Station 3 to Greenfield 15 minutes

La Crosse officials would need to consider call volumes in relation to each of their existing stations to
determine their capacity to serve the adjacent communities. If additional call volumes could be
absorbed without adding substantial staff to existing stations or without needing to staff stations in
adjacent communities, then the added cost to serve these areas would be minimal. That, in turn,
could allow La Crosse to hold down the cost of any contractual charge to the communities it would
add. In fact, while contractual terms obviously would need to be negotiated, it is possible that La
Crosse could charge an amount that is comparable to the cost currently being incurred by each
community (particularly if amortized capital costs are included). This would create a “win-win” by
providing a higher level of service to those communities at little or no added cost while providing new
revenue streams for La Crosse.

It may be determined, however, that the existing stations in Shelby, Greenfield, Campbell, and La
Crescent still would need to be staffed in order to appropriately serve those areas. In that case, La
Crosse could add shifts to those stations, which would benefit the affected communities by giving
them the presence of full-time, career staff at their stations. However, given that the cost of a 24-

36 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 nil




hour shift is approximately $350,000,12 such a move may not be deemed affordable. A far less
costly option would be for La Crosse to build its own POC roster to staff those stations, which could
allow existing POC staff from the smaller communities to be re-hired by the La Crosse FD.

Departmental Consolidation

The final “advanced” option is the most comprehensive - a single consolidated department that
would serve the entire region. Here we model one hypothetical scenario for a consolidated
department and compare the cost and general service levels to existing fire and EMS services in the
La Crosse region. Because each department is likely to face increased costs going forward to meet
increased service demands, we also offer perspective on how those future cost increases might
compare to our consolidation scenario.

The consolidated department modeled here relies on hypothetical assumptions on where stations
would be located, how they would be staffed and equipped, how command and administration would
be structured, and other factors based on our own knowledge and input from the five chiefs. It is
important to note, however, that this is just one scenario for a consolidated department and there
are many other possibilities.

Current staffing levels

The first step in modeling the fiscal impacts of a consolidated department is to carefully document
current salary expenditures, benefit ratios, and staffing. It is particularly important to consider shift
staffing, which refers to how many firefighters are needed to staff a single 24-hour shift. While this
would appear to be a simple exercise, it is complicated by the fact that career firefighters are entitled
to various forms of time off (e.g. sick leave, vacation, family and medical leave). Depending on the
union contract and the age/tenure of staff, most departments will need to hire between 3.5 and 4.0
career firefighters/EMTs to staff a single 24-hour shift. Overtime also is relevant to the shift staffing
ratio because departments frequently fill shifts using overtime.

When a department uses part-time firefighters to staff shifts, the calculation is different. POC/POP
firefighters are paid straight time based on hours worked, but they are also paid for non-shift
activities such as training and meetings. Consequently, a reasonable staffing ratio for POC
departments is somewhere between 3.15 and 3.25 FTEs.13 Calculating the pay of part-time
employees is based simply on an hourly rate times the number of hours, plus FICA (7.65%).

Finally, several employees, including uniformed personnel, work eight-hour shifts in administrative or
command positions. We refer to these individuals as non-shift staff and they are accounted for in our
analysis outside of the shift staffing ratio. Battalion chiefs are also considered as a separate
category.

12 This cost includes salaries and benefits based on the La Crosse FD’s averages. It also reflects 3.5 to 4 firefighters to
cover a 24-hour shift seven days per week because of the need to account for various forms of time off.

13 An FTE is not the same as an individual employee. We use FTEs as a way to standardize the hours worked by multiple
employees into a comparable measure.

37 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




We examined personnel and budget figures for the five departments and developed current shift
staffing ratios where appropriate. We then broke down each department’s 2020 budget into four
categories: general staffing, battalion chiefs (who work on shifts), non-shift staffing, and non-
personnel costs (e.g. supplies, utilities, contracts, fleet maintenance, etc.). A shown in Table 22, in
2020, the five departments were budgeted to spend a combined $13.4 million for fire and EMS.

Table 22: Breakdown of fire department 2020 budgeted expenditures

Non-Shift Non-
Staffing | Battalion Chiefs | General Staffing | Total Personnel | Personnel | Total Budget

La Crosse $1,452,324 $528,182 $8,050,455 $10,036,961  $485,571 $10,516,532
Onalaska $264,010 $1,351,156 $1,615,166 $94,280 $1,709,446
Holmen $142,158 $496,942 $639,100  $114,250 $753,350
Shelby $33,000 $81,200 $114,200 $55,300 $169,500
La Crescent $12,900 $81,960 $94,860  $155,200 $250,060
Total $1,904,392 $528,182  $10,061,713 $12,494,287  $904,601 $13,398,888

Comparing the general staffing cost to FTEs gives a cost per employee of $100,845 in La Crosse.
This includes base salary, overtime, and benefits, which amount to 48.4% of salary. La Crosse has
the highest cost per FTE because it exclusively uses full-time employees who receive a full benefit
package. The Onalaska FD, as a combined department, has a cost per employee of $81,641 and a
benefits ratio of 41.1%. The Holmen Area FD’s cost per general employee is $68,261, which reflects
a lower number of shifts overall and a higher percentage of POCs in its staffing plan. Shelby and La
Crescent rely exclusively on POC staff and their cost per FTE is approximately $35,000.

Modeling a consolidated department

Our next step was to model station locations and daily shifts for a consolidated department, which
we show in Map 3 on the following page. Instead of having municipal barriers determine station
coverage areas, we divide the region into a northern and a southern division, each with a battalion
chief on a 24-hour basis. Per our earlier discussion of station sharing, we assume new stations near
the Valley View Mall and another to serve southern La Crosse and Shelby (which could be located in
either community) - as well as elimination of the existing Shelby station. We also assume a new
station in the northern part of the Holmen area to serve new development there. Consequently, the
region would have 11 stations instead of the current nine (not including the airport station).

We also assume an increase of 10 shifts - these are required both to staff the new stations and to
otherwise address service challenges discussed earlier in this report. These shifts are assumed to
consist of both full-time and part-time positions. Specifically, our model assumes 17.5 FTEs are filled
with full-time positions and 16 FTEs are assumed to be filled with POP staff. Our model increases the
percentage of POC/POP labor from 8.2% of total hours currently to almost 17% of total hours, which
is similar to the ratio of POCs to total FTEs in Onalaska currently.

38 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 nil




Map 3: Hypothetical consolidated department station locations and shifts (new stations in red)

Station 1
e

L]

Station 2
(3 shifts)

=
=]
ﬂtaﬁon e

(3 shifts)

Station 11 \ Station 6
(POC) i\ (5 shifts) H -
Station 7 H ':’J“_YY L

(9 shifts) Station 8

it u(s shifts)
Station 10
(POC)

\
0
| Station 9 I_@
[ (3shifts) _‘r\l‘l\_\j P]
H —

The following provides greater detail on specific operating characteristics of the hypothetical
consolidated department:

e The northern division would have five stations including the current Onalaska and Holmen area
stations and La Crosse’s Station 4. Two new stations are added to serve this part of the region:
one northern station in the current Holmen area jurisdiction east of Highway 53, and a station to
serve the area near the Valley View Mall. Currently, there are nine shifts serving the stations in
this area, but we envision an increase to 18 under our consolidated model. Three new shifts are
required at each of the new stations, and an additional two shifts are added to Station 2
(currently the Holmen area station) to increase its staffing level from one to three shifts. An
additional shift is also added to the Onalaska station, mainly because this station would be the
central station for the northern division and would also house its battalion chief. The northern
division also would support the volunteer operations of Farmington Fire and EMS and Brice

39 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 il




Prairie EMS. Even with these increases in service capacity, the Holmen area chief noted that
development in rural areas north of the village of Holmen may still experience delays in
response, especially at times when there are simultaneous medical unit calls. Also, even with
additional staff in the north, a structure fire in the northernmost area would need to draw on
crews as far south as La Crosse Station 4 to assemble 16 firefighters. That station is 15 minutes
away from the future northern station assuming good road conditions.

e The southern division would consist of the existing La Crosse Stations 1,2, 3 and a new southern
station. As noted above, the Shelby station, which currently requires significant repair, could be
eliminated. POC operations at the current stations located in Greenfield and La Crescent would
also be included in the southern region. Currently, about three quarters of calls for service occur
in the southern region and there are 21 shifts in the area. Because population and call volumes
are not projected to grow substantially in La Crosse (with the exception of some areas to the
south) only one additional shift is added for a total of 22. Three shifts are located at the new
southernmost station, with two relocated from La Crosse Stations 1 and 2. Nine shifts would be
located at Station 7 (formerly La Crosse 1), which would also house command and
administrative functions.

e Interms of the two outlying stations in La Crescent and Greenfield, it is assumed that they would
be staffed primarily with POC staff, although they would be administratively connected to the
southern command. There are several possibilities for adding to response capacity if call
volumes continue to increase in either area. One option would be to fund a 24-hour POP EMT
position that could respond immediately to calls with backup from POC staff and possibly a
paramedic intercept from La Crosse. In the case of a structure fire in either Greenfield or La
Crescent, apparatus from stations 7, 8 or 9 would be on the road immediately, which would
improve the level of resources available for fire response in La Crescent.

Personnel costs

As described above, the consolidated department envisioned here would add one station and 10
additional shifts to the current service level. Given the wider and more diverse service area and
based on our discussions with the chiefs, we modeled a combination department using both full-time
and parttime staff, with a ratio similar to that of the Onalaska FD. We assume that the new shifts
would be split equally between career firefighters/EMTs and POP staff.

There are several advantages to a combination model. One is that having a variety of part-time and
full-time options would offer greater opportunities to recruit, train, and promote employees. Also, the
flexibility of a combination department would offer the chief much greater flexibility in scheduling
staff and controlling overtime costs by using part-time staff to cover time off.

A final benefit relates to the existing POC operations at Shelby and La Crescent, where staff are
highly trained and an important resource for the region. A consolidated department using both part-
time and full-time staff could offer continued employment for these first responders, as well as
enhanced opportunities for those interested in either part-time or full-time employment.

40 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




Table 23 shows the cost of the 10 additional shifts.14 The cost per FTE of a career position is
$68,000 in salary and overtime and approximately $33,000 in benefits, based on the current
benefits ratio for the La Crosse FD. POP pay is assumed to be $17 per hour but the only benefit
added to that amount is FICA.

Table 23: Cost of new shifts for hypothetical consolidated department

_- Persomnel Cost

Career 17.5 $1,765,554
POP 5.0 16.0 $597,328
Total 10.0 33.5 $2,362,882

In addition, we add two battalion chiefs to ensure two are on duty per 24-hour shift, one in the
northern and one in the southern region. The addition of two new positions, at a cost of $264,091,
would allow for a total of six FTE battalion chief positions. We assume that captains or other officers
would need to cover battalion chief shifts to accommodate paid and unpaid time off.

With regard to non-shift staffing, the departments currently have 16 administrative and command
positions combined, with 11 of those in the La Crosse FD. The consolidated model is based on the
existing command structure of the La Crosse FD but adds a division chief to help manage overall
operations and a captain to oversee POC recruitment, training and operations. Because four chief
positions and an assistant chief position are eliminated, there would be a net decrease of three
command FTEs, as shown in Table 24. The projected savings total about $158,000, which appears
modest but is understandable given that two of the eliminated chief positions are not full-time.

Table 24: Command and administrative positions in hypothetical consolidated department

Chief 5 1
Assistant Chief 3 2
Division Chief 2 3
Captains 3 4
Fleet Mechanic 1 1
Admin Assistant 1 1
Community Risk Coordinator 1 1
Total 16 13

14 FTE calculations for career shifts are based on a shift staffing ratio of 3.5 based on current staffing patterns of the La
Crosse FD. Overtime is converted to FTEs and included in the shift staffing ratio. The shift staffing ratio for POP shifts is
assumed to be 3.2 FTEs per shift.

41  SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




Apparatus and capital costs

Generally, a consolidated department yields considerable potential savings on the capital side given
its ability to deploy its apparatus more effectively than several individual departments, as well as its
ability to reduce both the number of back-up vehicles and the total number of apparatus needed. A

ladder truck, for example, could be housed in a central station and respond throughout a division.

In this case, however, we assume a net increase in stations, and tenders need to be maintained in
parts of the region that do not have hydrants. Without going into great depth about needed
apparatus, we conservatively estimate that the consolidated department could eliminate five
engines, one ladder track, one brush rig, and a command vehicle. Because of the need to add a
tender there would be a net reduction of seven vehicles.

The approximate replacement cost of these seven vehicles is about $6 million. If the consolidated
department retained those vehicles and created a sinking fund to provide for their replacement, then
it would need to appropriate about $386,000 per year for that purpose. Given that those vehicles
would be eliminated, however, we assign an annual savings of $386,000 to the consolidated
department for the smaller fleet.

Finally, despite the fact that our consolidated model includes two new stations, we do not include the
construction cost of those stations in our analysis. That decision is predicated mainly on the fact that
both new stations already have been proposed outside of any discussion of consolidation, so the
cost would occur regardless. Also, station construction costs are very difficult to estimate without
knowing factors like site location, and it would be similarly difficult for us to estimate offsetting
savings from elimination of the Shelby station and its rehabilitation or replacement costs.

Supplies and other non-personnel costs

Non-personnel costs include supplies, utilities, fuel, insurance, contracts with other agencies, etc. As
shown earlier, the five departments currently spend just over $900,000 per year on non-personnel
costs. We expect that consolidation would allow for some savings in those costs because of greater
purchasing power and administrative coordination. For modeling purposes, we conservatively
assume a 10% savings in non-personnel costs.

Summary of consolidated department costs compared to current state

Table 25 summarizes our rough fiscal projection of additional costs and offsetting savings for our
hypothetical consolidated department relative to current combined expenditures among the five fire
departments that participated in this study. The table shows a net additional annual cost of about $2
million.

42 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




Table 25: Cost summary for hypothetical consolidated department

Expenditure Cost/Saving

Shift staffing $2,362,882
Battalion chiefs $264,091
Non shift staffing ($158,304)
Apparatus ($386,486)
Non personnel costs ($90,460)
Total Cost/(Savings) $1,991,723
“Future state” costs

In addition to considering the added cost of a consolidated department in comparison to current
combined costs, policymakers also should weigh that added cost against costs that may need to be
incurred by the five departments individually as they seek to respond to increased call volumes and
service demands, new development, and other factors. Of course, it is impossible to know precisely
how, when, and the extent to which these jurisdictions would add capacity and incur additional costs,
but our interviews with chiefs and administrators revealed that consideration of capacity
enhancements already is occurring.

Consequently, to provide some context on how the cost of consolidation might compare to the cost
of having each individual department pursue enhancements on its own, we developed an estimate
of the “future state” shift staffing cost if the five departments individually add and staff stations
currently under discussion and address POC staffing concerns. That estimate is based on the
following assumptions:

e The La Crosse FD adds two shifts at the new station in the Valley View Mall area (we assume
that station would be jointly staffed with Onalaska). The La Crosse chief has committed to
staff a new southern station by shifting existing staff with no net increase in staffing.

e The Onalaska FD adds two shifts: one at a new station in the Valley View area and one at its
current station to address increasing call volumes.

o The Holmen Area FD adds five shifts, two at its current station and three at a new northern
station, to meet growing call volumes.

e Shelby and La Crescent fund one POP shift at $17/hour to meet growing call volumes.

Based on current shift staffing costs at each department, we assume that the additional annual cost
of the above would be about $2.8 million, or about $800,000 more than the jurisdictions would
need to incur collectively under our hypothetical consolidated department scenario.15

15 Shift staffing ratios for these projections are assumed to be 3.5, and cost/FTE is $100,845 for La Crosse,
$81,641 for Onalaska, and $68,261 for Holmen.

43 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 T




It is important to note that this cost comparison assumes that a consolidated department would
have a staffing model similar to that currently used by the Onalaska FD. If all of the 10 additional
shifts were filled with career positions instead, then the cost of the consolidated model (which would
still employ POC but at a lower percentage) would exceed the cost of the “future state” scenario by
about $367,000.

Cost allocation and governance

Of course, key considerations for each community would be how the cost of a consolidated
department would be distributed among the participating communities and how the new department
would be governed. We cannot hypothesize how the La Crosse area communities would agree to
allocate the costs of a consolidated fire department, as there are several possible allocation
methodologies that could be considered. The North Shore Fire Department uses a formula that
equally weights each jurisdiction’s proportional share of calls for service, its population, and its
equalized property value, but several additional factors or different combinations could be used.

There are also several potential governance models for a consolidated fire department. A logical one
when consolidation involves several different communities is for the consolidated department to
function as an independent entity that reports to a new board of directors established by the
participants. Board representation could be determined based on a “one member/one vote” basis or
proportionally based on population or other factors.

Finally, considerations like ownership of current stations and apparatus (i.e. would they remain the
property of each municipality or turned over to the new department) and possible establishment of a
separate fire commission would need to be determined.

Service-level impacts

The potential benefits of fire department consolidation have been documented in several of our
previous studies and generally include the following:

o Alarger workforce that might reduce the need for overtime to cover for injury, illness, and
vacation, and that might aid in recruitment and retention by providing greater opportunities for
career ladders and possibly increased compensation.

e Consolidation of non-response tasks such as planning, finance, and inspections to produce
greater cost efficiency.

e Consolidation of training and other specialized functions to produce greater cohesion at the
scene of incidents.

e Opportunity to redeploy the existing workforce based on actual demand, thus possibly
eliminating the need to add staff to serve areas that are currently under-resourced.

o Opportunity to reduce leadership positions while enhancing the effectiveness of command by
allowing leaders to strategically manage and deploy staff and apparatus on a regional level.

e Potential cost savings through more efficient procurement and possible reduction of apparatus
and backup apparatus.

44 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




There are also potential drawbacks, which generally include a partial loss of local control by each
community over fire and EMS operational and financial decision-making; the possibility that some
communities would benefit operationally and fiscally more than others; the possibility that some may
need to pay more for fire and EMS than they are paying today or are willing to pay in the future; and
the challenges involved in consolidating labor contracts, staffing frameworks, and other personnel
issues.

In this report, we have presented a consolidated model for the La Crosse region that includes two
additional stations and 10 additional shifts across the region. Those factors alone would bring a
higher level of service to some areas, particularly in the northern part of the region and to those
areas now served by POC departments.

However, it is not just the additional station and shifts, but the opportunity for coordinated and
seamless response from stations that span municipal boundaries that could bring the greatest
benefit in terms of improved response times and the potential to reduce the loss of life and property.
The improved response capability also could improve current insurance-based ratings (i.e. ISO
ratings) for some communities, reducing insurance costs to residents and businesses.

45 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




CONCLUSION

Our analysis of fire and EMS service sharing in the La Crosse region finds the participating
departments already possess a spirit of cooperation that has resulted in some shared fleet
maintenance, regular joint meetings of training officers and chiefs, and an effective countywide
contractual relationship with a private ambulance service for advanced life support coverage.

Yet, we also observe several emerging challenges that suggest a need for enhanced collaboration.
Those include growing demand for service in the northern and southern parts of the service area; a
growing concern that some departments have sufficient capacity to respond to normal conditions but
are stretched too thin during times of high call volumes; and challenges associated with retention
and recruitment of paid-on-call staff. It also appears the region may not be making the best use of
the full-time, well-resourced La Crosse department for mutual aid and other forms of support.

The question that prompted this study was whether, by working more collaboratively, the individual
departments could address their mutual challenges in a more effective fashion than if they did so
independently. We present a series of options that could be considered to answer that question
affirmatively, including the following:

¢ Enhanced service sharing options include joint training, joint recruitment of part-time staff, joint
case management of high-volume EMS users, and joint conduct of other non-response functions
like fire prevention, inspections, and investigations. These options could be pursued via
contractual agreements between individual departments or the possible creation of a regional
bureau to conduct these activities under a cost sharing agreement. Benefits could include cost
efficiencies through economies of scale; improved service for smaller departments (in particular);
and, in the case of training, better cohesion during mutual aid incidents.

e Enhanced coordination of operations options would directly address fire and EMS response and
capacity. They include formalization and expansion of current mutual aid protocols, including a
possible move to “closest unit response” or automatic aid; working with Tri-State on strategies to
improve EMS response times outside of the city of La Crosse (where they are already strong);
and greater sharing of apparatus. The enhanced mutual aid and EMS options hold promise to
improve service levels and response times while the shared apparatus option could lower costs.

e Advanced options could require some departments to relinquish some or all of their existing
autonomy but hold the greatest potential for regional service improvement and enhanced
efficiency. One would involve sharing new or existing stations between multiple communities as a
means of cutting costs, while another would make greater use of the La Crosse FD’s capacity by
having it provide contracted service to Shelby/Greenfield and La Crescent, potentially providing
better service at a similar cost for the smaller communities while establishing new revenue
streams for La Crosse. We also model a single consolidated department to serve the entire
region, which we believe would be the most efficient and effective solution if policymakers are
willing to spend more to pursue enhanced service levels.

46 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




Each of these sets of options would involve cost sharing agreements and/or a willingness by larger
departments to shoulder greater responsibility for the benefit of the entire region. The more
advanced options not only would require acceptance by some or all jurisdictions to relinquish some
amount of local control over their fire and EMS operations, but also may cost more than the
impacted communities are willing to spend.

Nevertheless, our analysis suggests that each of the departments likely will need to increase
spending in the not-too-distant future, and that collaborative action could achieve at least some
desired improvements at a lower cost and a higher level of service than could be achieved by acting
alone. We also see potential - if advanced options are deemed too expensive for now - for the
communities to start slowly with some of the less comprehensive service sharing options and then
build toward consideration and implementation of more advanced options.

Overall, we hope this analysis sheds further light on the current and future challenges associated
with fire response and EMS in the La Crosse area. Going forward, we would be pleased to support
any efforts to implement the policy options cited in this report or otherwise assist the region in
pursuing greater intergovernmental cooperation.

47 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




APPENDIX |I: SNAPSHOT
DESCRIPTIONS OF AGENCIES

City of La Crosse FD

The City of La Crosse Fire Department is the largest fire protection service in the County with 98 Fire
Department FTE and a budget of over $10 million.16 La Crosse FD’s service area includes the City
itself and three surrounding townships for a total service population of approximately 54,000. In
addition to fire suppression services, La Crosse FD offers specialized rescue including (but not
limited to) water, technical rope, and confined space rescue. The department also provides fire
inspection, plan review, and fire prevention/education services. La Crosse FD is licensed at the
paramedic level and collaborates closely with Tri-State in a coordinated EMS response.

City of La Crosse FD, At a Glance

Notes

Number of Stations 4 Looking to build one or perhaps two new stations
and remodel or move two existing stations

Total FTE (including hourly) 98 Fire only
Staff on Shifts 29 Min 25, max 31
Population Served (Est) 53,721 City of La Crosse and Town of Medary,

North/South sections of French Island/Campbell
for Fire protection

Total Calls (2019) 6,837

Total Budget $9,374,079 Fire/EMS (excludes est Inspection costs, 10% of
total)

Onalaska Fire Department

Onalaska FD is a municipal department that services both the city and town of Onalaska. It is staffed
with a combination of both career personnel and POC staff. Onalaska’s service area for fire is the
entire city and a small portion of the town of Onalaska.

16 La Crosse FD has 114 total FTEs according to payroll documents, but 16 of those are building inspectors
and are not counted here.

48 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




Onalaska FD, At a Glance

Notes

Number of Stations 1 Discussion of building one near the mall

Total FTE (including hourly) 25.03

Staff on Shifts 4 Average

Population Served (Est) 18,988 City of Onalaska and portions of the town of
Onalaska

Total Calls (2019) 1,553

Total Budget (2020) $1,709,446

Holmen Area FD

The Holmen Area Fire department is an independent fire district that covers the village of Holmen,
town of Holland, and portions of the town of Onalaska. Holmen Area FD is staffed with both career
and part-time employees. While service demands are increasing in and around Holmen, the
organizational model of serving three different municipalities complicates the department’s ability to
address funding challenges. As a consequence, Holmen Area FD has less of an ability to address
ancillary services such as fire inspections, plan review, and strategic planning. New development in
the northern part of the service area is problematic since response times are longer there for both
Holmen Area FD and Tri-State.

Holmen Area FD, At a Glance

Notes

Number of Stations 1 Considering the need for one additional
station

Total FTE (including hourly) 8.29

Staff on Shifts 2 1 day shift
1 Command/Supervisor on staff as well

Population Served (Est) 19,945 Village of Holmen, town of Holland, and
portions of the town of Onalaska

Total Calls (2019) 1057

Total Budget (2020) $753,350

49 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




Shelby Fire Department

The Shelby Fire Department, part of the town government of Shelby, is a volunteer fire department
licensed at the EMR level. The department’s two stations serve Shelby and about 90% of the town of
Greenfield. Shelby FD has a large POC roster of 43 personnel. Shelby FD also conducts safety
inspections and plan reviews. Personnel are trained in HazMat response and water rescue.

Shelby FD, At a Glance

Notes

Number of Stations 2 One in Shelby and one in Greenfield at St
Joseph’s Ridge

Total FTE (including hourly) 2.3 43 PT

Staff on Shifts NA

Population Served (Est) 6,882 Town of Shelby, Town of Greenfield

Total Calls (2019) 330

Total Budget $169,500 Excludes $45,000 in hydrant rental

La Crescent FD

The La Crescent Fire Department is a volunteer department housed within La Crescent, Minnesota
city government. La Crescent FD is licensed at the EMR level and provides fire and EMS first
responder service to the city and township of La Crescent and portions of the townships of Dresbach
and Mount Prairie. Unlike the La Crosse County departments, La Crescent FD is dispatched out of
Houston County, MN. Tri-State provides ALS and all transport services for the La Crescent FD.

City of La Crescent FD, At a Glance

Notes

Number of Stations 1

Total FTE (including hourly) 2.3

Staff on Shifts NA 27 POC

Population Served (Est) 5,392 City of La Crescent, township of La Crescent,
portions of Mound Prairie and Dresbach townships

Total Calls (2018) 400 375 were EMS, 25 were fire

Total Budget $250,060 Fire/EMS, net of capital

50 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 nil




Tri-State Ambulance Service

Tri-State is a non-profit corporation that provides 911 response and transport to 2,200 square miles
in Minnesota and Wisconsin. It is licensed at the paramedic level and staffs six ambulances in La
Crosse County during the day and four at night. Tri-State also provides all ambulance facility
transfers. Tri-State sponsors EMS training and provides medical direction to first responders.

Tri-State, At a Glance
Notes

Number of Stations 3

Total FTE (including hourly) 42 Shift Staffing ratio of 4.0

Staff on Shifts 10.5 12 during the day and 9 at night
Population Served (Est) 102,742 Study areas only

Total Calls (2019) 9,116 Study areas only

Total Budget $4,110,116 For entire county

Brice Prairie First Responders

Brice Prairie First Responders is a standalone EMR non-profit agency that provides EMR services to
the census designated place of Brice Prairie within the town of Onalaska’s borders. Brice Prairie is a
volunteer agency which has been serving the area for more than 30 years. ALS services and

transports are handled by Tri-State Ambulance.

Brice Prairie First Responders, At a Glance

Notes

Number of Stations 1

Total FTE (including hourly)

Staff on Shifts NA 12 volunteers

Population Served (Est) ~ 2,000 Brice Prairie, CDP (town of Onalaska), Lake
Onalaska (town of Onalaska) Great River State
Bike Trail (town of Onalaska, town of Holland)

Total Calls (2018) 70

Total Budget NA EMS only

51 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020 ulil




Farmington Emergency Medical Team

The Farmington Emergency Medical Team is a stand-alone EMR non-profit agency that has been

operating since 1928. In 2014, Farmington EMT merged with North Bend EMT, creating an
organization that serves two communities in two counties. Farmington EMT is a volunteer agency.

Farmington First Responders, At a Glance

Notes

Number of Stations 1

Total FTE (including hourly) 17 Volunteers

Staff on Shifts NA

Population Served (Est) ~ 2,100 Town of Farmington, town of North Bend in
Jackson County

Total Calls (2018) 98

Total Budget $53,000 EMS only

52 SOMETHING IN COMMON | DECEMBER 2020




LAPC Member Dues

Equalized Values for Calculating 2022 Dues 2022 Recommended

Unit of Government Equalized Value, 2020 Percent of Total Value Dues*

Town of Campbell 389,832,400 3.72% 1,763.43
Town of Medary 199,291,100 1.90% 901.51
Town of Holland 477,899,500 4.56% 2,161.81
Town of Shelby 498,890,300 4.76% 2,256.76
Town of Onalaska 643,889,900 6.15% 2,912.68
City of La Crescent 450,284,300 4.30% 2036.89
City of La Crosse 4,331,406,700 41.35% 19,593.39
City of Onalaska 2,169,131,500 20.71% 9,812.20
Village of Holmen 839,592,000 8.01% 3,797.95
Village of West Salem 475,746,000 4.54% 2,152.07
Total - LAPC 10,475,963,700 100.00% 47,388.67

*Approximately same dues as 2021

In 2021 LAPC member dues were reduced by approximately 25% recognizing funding challenges
faced by local units of government due to the pandemic. | am recommending the LAPC maintain
the same dues in 2022 as funding challenges continue for local units of government. The

proposed dues allow the LAPC to meet our known obligations for 2022.




	LAPC 031721A
	Agenda Item 3 - 01.20.21 LAPC Mtg Minutes
	Agenda Item 6 -Resolution 2-2021 Approving PTASP Targets March 17 2021
	Agenda Item 7 - Draft 2021-2024 TIP Project List_March 17 amendment_Resolution
	Agenda Item 8 - SomethingInCommon_FullReport
	Options for change
	Tier 1: Enhanced Functional Service Sharing
	Joint Training
	Joint Recruitment and Retention Strategies
	EMS case management
	Other Functional Service Sharing
	Tier 2: Enhanced Coordination of Operations
	Improved Mutual Aid
	Improved EMS Response
	Shared Apparatus
	Tier 3: Advanced Options
	Station Sharing
	Consolidated Service Through Contracting
	Departmental Consolidation

	Conclusion
	Appendix I: Snapshot Descriptions of Agencies
	City of La Crosse FD
	Onalaska Fire Department
	Holmen Area FD
	Shelby Fire Department
	La Crescent FD
	Tri-State Ambulance Service
	Brice Prairie First Responders
	Farmington Emergency Medical Team

	Acknowledgments Page.pdf
	About the Wisconsin Policy Forum
	Preface and Acknowledgments


	Agenda Item 9 - 2022 LAPC member dues


<<

  /ASCII85EncodePages false

  /AllowTransparency false

  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true

  /AutoRotatePages /None

  /Binding /Left

  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)

  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)

  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error

  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4

  /CompressObjects /Tags

  /CompressPages true

  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true

  /PassThroughJPEGImages true

  /CreateJobTicket false

  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default

  /DetectBlends true

  /DetectCurves 0.0000

  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK

  /DoThumbnails false

  /EmbedAllFonts true

  /EmbedOpenType false

  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true

  /EmbedJobOptions true

  /DSCReportingLevel 0

  /EmitDSCWarnings false

  /EndPage -1

  /ImageMemory 1048576

  /LockDistillerParams false

  /MaxSubsetPct 100

  /Optimize true

  /OPM 1

  /ParseDSCComments true

  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true

  /PreserveCopyPage true

  /PreserveDICMYKValues true

  /PreserveEPSInfo true

  /PreserveFlatness true

  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false

  /PreserveOPIComments true

  /PreserveOverprintSettings true

  /StartPage 1

  /SubsetFonts true

  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply

  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve

  /UsePrologue false

  /ColorSettingsFile ()

  /AlwaysEmbed [ true

  ]

  /NeverEmbed [ true

  ]

  /AntiAliasColorImages false

  /CropColorImages true

  /ColorImageMinResolution 300

  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleColorImages true

  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /ColorImageResolution 300

  /ColorImageDepth -1

  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1

  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeColorImages true

  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterColorImages true

  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /ColorACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /ColorImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasGrayImages false

  /CropGrayImages true

  /GrayImageMinResolution 300

  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleGrayImages true

  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /GrayImageResolution 300

  /GrayImageDepth -1

  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2

  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeGrayImages true

  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /AutoFilterGrayImages true

  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /GrayACSImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /GrayImageDict <<

    /QFactor 0.15

    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<

    /TileWidth 256

    /TileHeight 256

    /Quality 30

  >>

  /AntiAliasMonoImages false

  /CropMonoImages true

  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200

  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /DownsampleMonoImages true

  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /MonoImageResolution 1200

  /MonoImageDepth -1

  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /EncodeMonoImages true

  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode

  /MonoImageDict <<

    /K -1

  >>

  /AllowPSXObjects false

  /CheckCompliance [

    /None

  ]

  /PDFX1aCheck false

  /PDFX3Check false

  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false

  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true

  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true

  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

    0.00000

  ]

  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()

  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()

  /PDFXOutputCondition ()

  /PDFXRegistryName ()

  /PDFXTrapped /False



  /CreateJDFFile false

  /Description <<



    /BGR <>

    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>

    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>

    /CZE <>

    /DAN <>

    /DEU <>

    /ESP <>

    /ETI <>

    /FRA <>

    /GRE <>



    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)

    /HUN <>

    /ITA <>

    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>

    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>

    /LTH <>

    /LVI <>

    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)

    /NOR <>

    /POL <>

    /PTB <>

    /RUM <>

    /RUS <>

    /SKY <>

    /SLV <>

    /SUO <>

    /SVE <>

    /TUR <>

    /UKR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)

  >>

  /Namespace [

    (Adobe)

    (Common)

    (1.0)

  ]

  /OtherNamespaces [

    <<

      /AsReaderSpreads false

      /CropImagesToFrames true

      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue

      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false

      /IncludeGuidesGrids false

      /IncludeNonPrinting false

      /IncludeSlug false

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (InDesign)

        (4.0)

      ]

      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false

      /OmitPlacedEPS false

      /OmitPlacedPDF false

      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy

    >>

    <<

      /AddBleedMarks false

      /AddColorBars false

      /AddCropMarks false

      /AddPageInfo false

      /AddRegMarks false

      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK

      /DestinationProfileName ()

      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK

      /Downsample16BitImages true

      /FlattenerPreset <<

        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution

      >>

      /FormElements false

      /GenerateStructure false

      /IncludeBookmarks false

      /IncludeHyperlinks false

      /IncludeInteractive false

      /IncludeLayers false

      /IncludeProfiles false

      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (CreativeSuite)

        (2.0)

      ]

      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK

      /PreserveEditing true

      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged

      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile

      /UseDocumentBleed false

    >>

  ]

>> setdistillerparams

<<

  /HWResolution [2400 2400]

  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]

>> setpagedevice





